Effect of Experimental Hyperhomocysteinemia on Brain Methylation and Neurodegenerative Markers in Rats

DISSERTATION

TO ACQUIRE THE DEGREE OF "DOCTOR OF MEDICINE"

from the Faculty of Medicine of the University of the Saarland

2010

written by Jennifer Clare Schlundt born on the 10th of June 1984 in Landstuhl

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

I ABBREVIATIONS	3 -
II SUMMARY	5 -
III INTRODUCTION	9 -
1 DEMENTIA, AN AGE-ASSOCIATED NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASE	10 -
1.1 Epidemiology of Dementia	10 -
1.2 Different Forms of Dementia	12 -
1.3 Risk Factors for Dementia	13 -
1.4 Clinical Studies Validate Homocysteine's Position as a	
Prognostic Marker for Cognitive Decline and Dementia	15 -
1.5 Pathobiochemical Mechanisms in Dementia	23 -
2 Homocysteine	25 -
2.1 Overview	25 -
2.2 Biochemical Aspects of Homocysteine	26 -
2.3 Homocysteine Metabolism in the Central Nervous System	29 -
3 FACTORS LEADING TO HYPERHOMOCYSTEINEMIA	31 -
3.1 Genetics in Hyperhomocysteinemia	31 -
3.2 Hyperhomocysteinemia and Vitamin Deficiency	31 -
3.3 Diseases Associated with Hyperhomocysteinemia	31 -
3.4 Influence of Medication and Lifestyle on Total Plasma Homocysteine	32 -
4 PATHOMECHANISMS LINKING HOMOCYSTEINE TO NEURODEGENERATION	33 -
4.1 Homocysteine and Hypomethylation	33 -
4.2 Homocysteine and Glutamate Receptors	36 -
4.3 Homocysteine and Inflammation	36 -
5 AIM OF WORK AND STUDY HYPOTHESIS	37 -
IV MATERIALS AND METHODS	38 -
1 Study Design	38 -
2 Animal Model	38 -
3 Dietary Intervention	39 -
4 NARCOTICS	39 -
5 COLLECTION OF BLOOD AND TISSUE SAMPLES	39 -
6 SAH AND SAM MEASUREMENT IN BRAIN TISSUE AND PLASMA	42 -

/ ELISA PINF-H, INF-A, PP2A ACTIVITY AND LEVEL IN KAT DRAIN TISSUE	4
8 BIOCHEMICAL BLOOD ANALYSIS	47
9 Plasma SAH, SAM measurement	47
10 TOTAL PLASMA HOMOCYSTEINE MEASUREMENT	47
11 FOLATE MEASUREMENT	47
12 VITAMIN B ₁₂ Measurement	48
13 VITAMIN B_6 (Pyridoxal-5'-Phosphate) Measurement	48
14 Immunohistochemistry	48
15 Reagents, Materials, and Instruments	50
16 STATISTICS	51
V RESULTS	52
1 MAIN CHARACTERISTICS AND BLOOD MARKERS ASSAYED IN PLASMA AND BR	AIN 52
2 EFFECT OF DIETS ON TOTAL PLASMA HOMOCYSTEINE IN RATS	55
3 EFFECT OF DIET ON SAH, SAM, AND SAM/SAH RATIO IN TWO BRAIN REGIO	NS 56
4 Plasma Folate and Vitamin B_{12} and Association with Methylation In	IDEX 58
5 EXPERIMENTAL HYPERHOMOCYSTEINEMIA AND P-TAU IN RAT BRAINS	60
6 P-TAU IN RELATION TO TOTAL PLASMA HOMOCYSTEINE AND PLASMA FOLATE	62
7 TNF- α , a Marker for Inflammatory Reaction	63
8 PP2A ACTIVITY AND LEVEL IN EXTRACTS OF FRONTAL CORTEX	64
9 PHOSPHORYLATED NEUROFILAMENT H, A MARKER OF AXONAL DEGENERATIO	ON 66
10 PNF-H IN EXTRACTS OF FRONTAL CORTEX CORRELATES WITH FOLATE	67
11 RATIO OF P-TAU TO PP2A ACTIVITY IN RELATION TO SAH, THCY, AND FOLA	TE 68
VI DISCUSSION	69
VII CONCLUSIONS	76
VIII DEFEDENCE I IST	78
VIII REFERENCE LISI	

I Abbreviations

ΑΒαC	Dominant brain isoform of protein phosphatase 2A
AD	Alzheimer's disease
Adas-cog	Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-cognitive subscale
ACT	Alpha-1-antichymotrypsin
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
Αβ	Amyloid beta
BACE	β -site of APP cleaving enzyme
BHMT	Betaine homocysteine methyltransferase
CAT	Computed axial tomography
CBS	Cystathionine beta synthase
CNS	Central nervous system
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CV	Coefficient of variation
Cys	Cystathionine
DLB	Dementia with Lewy bodies
DTT	Dithiotrilae
FTD	Frontotemporal dementia
HCY	Homocysteine
ННСҮ	Hyperhomocysteinemia
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
LCMT-1	Leucine carboxyl methyltransferase-1
LC-Tandem-MS	Liquid chromatography tandem massspectrometry
L-DOPA	L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine
MCI	Mild cognitive dysfunction
Met	Methionine
MMA	Methylmalonic acid
MMSE	Mini-mental state examination
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MS	Methionine synthase
MTHF	Methylenetetrahydrofolate
MTHR	Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase

m/z	Mass-to-charge ratio
NFT	Neurofibrillary tangles
n.s.	Not significant
PDD	Parkinson's disease with dementia
PHF	Paired helical filaments
PME-1	Protein phosphatase methylesterase-1
PNF-H	Phosphorylated neurofilament H
PP2A	Protein phosphatase 2A
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PPMT	Protein phosphatase 2A methyltransferase
PS1	Presenilin 1
PS2	Presenilin 2
P-tau	Phosphorylated tau
SAH	S-adenosyl homocysteine
SAM	S-adenosyl methionine
SD	Standard deviation
SPE	Solid phase extraction
TMB	Tetramethylbenzidine
tHcy	Total homocysteine
THF	Tetrahydrofolate
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
VaD	Vascular dementia
WML	White matter lesions

II Summary

Many studies show a significant relationship between elevated plasma total homocysteine concentration (tHcy) and age associated neurodegenerative diseases like dementia, but it is not yet possible to link these two causally because of study limitations and pending treatment studies. Plasma tHcy is a nutritional metabolic marker. Mild to moderate hyperhomocysteinemia (HHCY; tHcy 12-30 μ mol/l) is an indicator for deficiencies in B-vitamins (folate, B₁₂, B₆). HHCY is associated with elevated plasma concentrations of S-adenosyl homocysteine (SAH). SAH is the demethylation product of S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) which functions as a methyl group donor. The remethylation of homocysteine (HCY) to methionine is an important source for the generation of SAM. A disturbed cellular methylation potential is one important pathomechanism in HHCY and plays an important role in the development of neurodegenerative disease.

The goal of the study was to determine in vivo if HHCY leading to a disturbed methylation status is linked to neurodegenerative alterations. In this study we examined the effect of experimentally induced HHCY on accumulation of phosphorylated tau (P-tau) protein, phosphorylated Neurofilament H (pNF-H), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) activity adjusted for total PP2A protein level in rat cerebral tissue.

We induced HHCY with a homocystine (1.7%) and a methionine (2.4%) enriched diet in Wistar rats. After euthanizing the animals, the brain tissue was extracted and the accumulation of P-tau protein was measured by immunofluorescence. Metabolites were measured by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-Tandem-MS). Concentrations of pNF-H, TNF- α , and PP2A activity and level were measured in cerebral cortex extracts. Results were normalized for total protein.

The in vivo study showed that plasma tHcy in Wistar rats increased by more than 10-fold after five months of the methionine and homocystine diets when compared to baseline concentrations. Furthermore the dietary intervention led to a reduced methylation status reflected by elevation of SAH concentration, as well as a significant decrease in SAM/SAH ratio in two different brain regions (frontal cortex and brain stem). Plasma concentrations of folate and vitamin B_{12} were significantly correlated to brain SAM/SAH ratio. We noted a considerably increased accumulation of P-tau protein in the cerebral frontal cortex of rats nourished with both of the HHCY inducing diets. P-tau accumulation in the frontal cortex was positively related to plasma tHcy and negatively related to folate concentration. Folate status rather than activity of PP2A or level of PP2A in brain tissues was related to phosphorylated

protein forms like P-tau and pNF-H. TNF- α concentration in frontal cortex did not differ according to diet.

Our study showed that methionine and homocystine treated diets fed to Wistar rats are strongly effective in inducing a pronounced experimental HHCY. Requirements and turnover of methyl groups were different according to brain region and may reflect different regional biochemical pathways. Plasma concentrations of folate and vitamin B_{12} were significantly correlated to brain SAM/SAH ratio proving that better B-vitamin status is directly related to better brain methylation status. The accumulation of P-tau protein in the rat brain was related to HHCY and enhanced folate consumption or requirement. Plasma folate was lowered by supplementation of methionine or homocystine, thus causing increased P-tau and pNF-H. The effect of the diet on P-tau and pNF-H seemed not to be explained by lower activity of the catalytic unit of PP2A or protein level of the enzyme. Low folate, hyperhomocysteinemia, hypomethylation in the brain caused hyperphosphorylation of functional proteins involved in neurodegeneration. TNF- α in cerebral cortex does not explain HCY neurotoxicity in our study.

These results must be verified in further studies examining the exact neurodegenerative mechanisms. In addition, it must be determined what effect mild to moderate HHCY, over a considerably longer period of time, has on P-tau, pNF-H, and PP2A activity. Because our study cannot be directly extrapolated to humans, it would be interesting to explore the effect of treatment with B-vitamins, leading to an improved methylation status, on concentration of P-tau protein, pNF-H, and PP2A activity and to test if this treatment has a direct impact on the cessation or delay of demential development.

Zusammenfassung

In vielen Studien zeigt sich eine signifikante Beziehung zwischen einem erhöhten Plasmaspiegel an Gesamthomocystein (tHcy) und altersassoziierten neurodegenerativen Erkrankungen, insbesondere Demenz. Jedoch kann man bisher noch nicht von einer kausalen Beziehung sprechen wegen Studienlimitationen und ausstehenden Therapiestudien. Plasma tHcy ist ein metabolischer Marker, der sich ernährungsabhängig verhält. Milde bis moderate Hyperhomocysteinämie (HHCY; tHcy 12-30 µmol/l) ist ein Indikator für B-Vitaminmangel (Folat, B₁₂, B₆). HHCY steht im Zusammenhang mit einer erhöhten Plasmakonzentration an S-Adenosylhomocystein (SAH), wobei SAH das Demethylierungsprodukt von S-Adenosylmethionin (SAM) darstellt, welches als Methylgruppenspender fungiert. Eine entscheidende Quelle der SAM-Bildung ist die Remethylierung Homocysteins (HCY) zu Methionin. Ein gestörtes zelluläres Methylierungspotential ist ein grundlegender Pathomechanismus bei HHCY und spielt für die Entwicklung neurodegenerativer Erkrankungen eine wichtige Rolle.

Das Untersuchungsziel bestand in der Aufklärung, ob in vivo HHCY, die zu einem gestörten Methylierungsstatus führt, in Verbindung mit neurodegenerativen Veränderungen steht. In dieser Studie untersuchten wir die Wirkung experimentell induzierter HHCY auf die Anreicherung von Tau-Protein (P-Tau), phosphoryliertem Neurofilament H (PNF-H), Tumornekrosefaktor (TNF- α) und Protein-Phosphatase 2A (PP2A) Aktivität und Level im Rattengehirn.

Durch eine mit Homocystin (1,7%) und eine mit Methionin (2,4%) angereicherten Diät konnnten wir bei Wistar-Ratten eine HHCY erzeugen. Nach Euthanasieren der Tiere wurde das Gehirngewebe entnommen und die Akkumulation von Tau-Protein mittels Immunfluoreszenz untersucht. Die untersuchten Metabolite wurden mittels Flüssigkeitschromatografie-Tandem-Massenspektrometrie (LC-Tandem-MS) bestimmt. Konzentrationen von PNF-H, TNF-a und PP2A Aktivität und Level wurden im Extrakt des Rattengehirns bestimmt. Ergebnisse wurden normalisiert für Gesamtprotein.

Unsere in vivo Studie zeigt, dass Plasma tHcy bei Wistar Ratten sowohl bei einer mit Methionin wie auch mit Homocystin angereicherten Diät im Zeitraum von fünf Monaten um mehr als das 10-fache ansteigt. Darüber hinaus führte diese diätetische Intervention zu einem Anstieg der SAH-Konzentration im Gehirn, sowie zu einer signifikanten Erniedrigung des SAM/SAH Quotienten in zwei verschiedenen Gehirnregionen (Frontaler Kortex und Hirnstamm). Folsäure und Vitamin B_{12} Plasmakonzentrationen korrelierten signifikant mit dem SAM/SAH Quotienten. Wir beobachteten bei den Ratten unter Methionin und Homocystin angereicherten Diäten eine deutliche Verstärkung der phosphorylierten Tau-Proteinfärbung im frontalen Kortex. Die Anreicherung von P-Tau im frontalen Kortex stand in positiver Beziehung zum Plasmaspiegel von tHcy und in negativer Beziehung zur Folsäurekonzentration im Plasma. Der Folsäure Status der Ratten im Plasma stand eher in Beziehung zu phosphorylierten Proteinformen wie P-tau und PNF-H als die PP2A-Aktivität oder –Level. Konzentrationen von TNF- α im frontalen Kortex unterschieden sich nicht in Bezug auf die diätetische Intervention.

Unsere Studie belegte, dass Methionin und Homocystin angereicherte Diäten in Wistar Ratten eine ausgeprägte experimentelle HHCY hervorrufen. Der Bedarf und Umsatz von Methylgruppen unterschieden sich in Anhängigkeit von der Gehirnregion und könnte regionale Unterschiede in biochemischen Stoffwechselwegen wiederspiegeln. Folsäure und Vitamin B_{12} Plasmakonzentrationen korrelierten signifikant mit dem SAM/SAH Quotienten und beweist hiermit, dass ein verbesserter B-Vitamin Status direkt mit einem verbesserten zerebralen Methylierungsstatus zusammenhängt. Die Anreicherung von P-Tau-Protein im Rattengehirn stand im kausalen Zusammenhang mit HHCY und erhöhtem Folsäurebedarf oder –umsatz. Folsäure Plasmaspiegel wurden erniedrigt durch den Zusatz von Methionin und Homocystin und korrelierte mit vermehrtem P-Tau und PNF-H. Die Auswirkung der Diät schien nicht erklärbar durch eine verringerte Aktivität oder Level der katalytischen Dimer-Untereinheit des PP2A Enzyms. Niedriger Folsäurestatus, Hyperhomocysteinämie und Hypomethylierung im Gehirn scheint Hyperphosphorylierung von funktionellen Proteinen zu verursachen, die bei Neurodegeneration involviert sind. TNF- α im frontalen Kortex erklärt die neurotoxische Wirkung HCYs nicht.

Diese Ergebnisse müssen in weiterführenden Untersuchungen, die exakten neurodegenerativen Mechanismen betreffend, bestätigt werden. Außerdem sollte man Auswirkungen auf P-Tau, PNF-H und PP2A Aktivität untersuchen, wenn eine milde bis moderate HHCY über deutlich längeren Zeitraum aufrechterhalten wird. Da unsere Studie nicht direkt auf den Menschen übertragen werden kann, wäre es interessant in klinischen Studien die Wirkung einer Behandlung mit B-Vitaminen, insbesondere Folsäure und somit eines verbesserten Methylierungsstatus auf die Konzentration von phosphoryliertem Tau-Protein, PNF-H und die PP2A Aktivität zu testen und ob diese Behandlung eventuell einen direkten Einfluss auf das Aufhalten oder Verzögern einer dementiellen Entwicklung hat.

III Introduction

Approximately 4.5 million new cases of dementia are predicted worldwide for each year. The world's population is aging; the prevalence of dementia will increase considerably in the next 40 years when the world will be dealing with more than 110 million patients with dementia (38). The risk of developing dementia, a form of neurodegeneration, is strongly age-related. However, dementia explicitly is not an obligatory part of aging but is a true disease. There are different forms of dementia each having different pathomechanisms. In Alzheimer's disease (AD) tau becomes hyperphosphorylated (P-tau) and aggregates into paired helical filaments (PHF) which accumulate in neuronal cell bodies as neurofibrillary tangles (NFT), these correlating with cognitive deficits, neurodegenerative disorder, and dementia. Vascular Dementia (VaD) is understood as a heterogeneous syndrome in which the underlying cause is a form of cerebrovascular disease such as multi-infarct dementia. Dementia is caused by several genetic and non-genetic risk factors. Many cross-sectional studies and prospective studies (46;112;132;146;165;181) on more than 10,000 subjects have shown significant associations between cognitive deficit or dementia and homocysteine (HCY) and/or Bvitamins. Different mechanisms have been proposed to account for these associations, but a definite causal pathway has yet to be shown. Hyperhomocysteinemia (HHCY) has been linked in many studies to diseases of the central nervous system (CNS). It is an important goal to find prognostic markers allowing early detection of disease or populations at risk for dementia. Raised plasma total homocysteine (tHcy) is a strong prognostic marker of future cognitive decline and dementia, and is common in world populations. Low-normal concentrations of the B-vitamins, the main determinant of HCY concentrations, are also common and occur in particularly susceptible phases in life, such as in infancy and at a more advanced age. An improved pathobiochemical understanding of effects of HHCY on hypomethylation and hyperphosphorylation will aid in developing strategies for early prevention. A decrease in the risk for the development of neurodegenerative diseases by lowering the concentration of tHcy by sufficient alimentary vitamin supply or supplementation in the case of vitamin deficiencies was shown in some studies (13;30;195) but not in others (103) and needs to be evaluated further. Research at this time calls for largescale multi-centered randomized trials of HCY-lowering vitamins to see if a proportion of dementia in the world can be prevented.

1 Dementia, an Age-Associated Neurodegenerative Disease

Neurodegeneration is a term used to describe the process of pathological and destructive changes occurring in the brain. Neurodegenerative diseases include a wide group of disorders of various etiologies and clinical features and are mostly present in the second half of life and probably take decades to develop. They all have in common structural and functional protein modifications, resulting in deterioration of certain nerve cells or neurons. The clinical correlate of age-related neurodegeneration is cognitive decline and can lead to dementia. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) represents the intermediary stage between normal aging and dementia. MCI is an age-dependent disorder characterized by impairment of memory and/or another cognitive domain. This reduction of previous level of function is by definition not severe enough to interfere with daily function, independence, social, or professional abilities. However, compared to people without memory decline, patients with MCI, older than 65 years, have a risk of 10-15%/year to develop dementia in comparison to the healthy population with a risk of 2%/year (28;155). Understanding this is essential in order to identify risk factors and markers for the development or progression of MCI and/or dementia. Identifying extrinsic factors that accentuate the effects of aging and eliminating these, would then lead to successful aging, in which extrinsic factors play a neutral or positive role. HHCY is an example for a prognostic marker; an inverse relationship has been shown for cognitive function. Studies have shown HHCY to accelerate the progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia as in this recent study where tHcy measured at baseline predicted the rate of cognitive decline in patients with AD (137).

1.1 Epidemiology of Dementia

A very high proportion of elderly people develop dementia and the probability increases with age. Worldwide prevalence of dementia is strongly related to age: 0.5% in those between 60 and 65 years, 1.5% between 65 and 69 years, 3% between 70 and 74 years, 6% between 75 and 79 years, 12% between 80 and 84 years, and 25% in those aged 85 to 89 years. The prevalence reaches almost 50% in those over 95 years (42). Figure 1 demonstrates how prevalence of dementia according to age in Germany increases approximately by two-fold every 5 years after the age of 65 years. Although the development of dementia is strongly age-related, dementia is not an inevitable part of aging. It is a true disease caused by exposure to genetic as well as non-genetic risk factors.

The world prevalence of dementia for the year 2000 was estimated at 25.5 million by Wimo et al. (204). The authors estimated that in the year 2000 numbers for dementia were 11.9 million in Asia, 7.4 million in Europe, 3.1 million in North America, 1.7 million in Latin America, 1.25 million in Africa. However, the number for North America may have even been estimated rather low since for the U.S. alone there was an estimated 4.5 million Americans with AD ($\underline{65}$). AD is the most common form of chronic dementia but accounts only for 60 to 80 percent of dementias.

Due to the predicted demographics showing a steady percentile increase of the elderly generation, the prediction of future worldwide prevalence for dementia suggests that there may be as many as 114 million patients with dementia by the year 2050. The Delphi consensus study (<u>38</u>) largely is in agreement with these predictions Wimo et al. (<u>204</u>) made and estimated that each year there will be 4.5 million new cases of dementia worldwide. Another concerning feature of the worldwide prevalence estimates is that, in 2000–2001, 52% to 60% of those with dementia lived in less-developed regions (<u>38</u>), by 2050 there will be as many as 74% (84 million) living in the less-developed regions (<u>204</u>). These alarming predictions for the next 40 years underline the importance of research on this subject matter to find new possibilities for prevention. Preventing dementia will become a realistic possibility when non-genetic risk factors can be identified and targeted.



Figure 1

Prevalence of dementia according to age in Germany (year 2004); Source: German Alzheimer Society (Deutsche Alzheimer Gesellschaft)

1.2 Different Forms of Dementia

Dementia is the most common form of neurodegeneration and is a disorder characterized by impairment or loss of memory and at least one other cognitive domain (aphasia, apraxia, agnosia, or executive function). These must show a reduction of the previous level of function and be severe enough to interfere with daily function and independence (2). Progression of disease leads to significant personality changes, loss of both motor control and coordination, and an increasing inability to take care of oneself causing the patient's loss of independence. The major dementia syndromes include: AD, VaD, dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB), Parkinson's disease with dementia (PDD), frontotemporal dementia (FTD) like Morbus Pick, and reversible dementias like Morbus Wilson. The most common forms of dementia are AD and VaD and will be discussed briefly.

AD, the leading cause of dementia, is an incurable disease and is the classic example for cortical dementia. In contrast to subcortical dementias where the main problem is loss of functional motor skills, the main symptom in AD is the dementia itself. Upon autopsy a loss of cortex neurons is found especially in the temporo-basal (hippocampus) and temporoparietal region. The microscopic examination reveals necrosis of cells and deposition of senile plaques and Alzheimer fibrilles. An Amyloid angiopathy is frequently associated. AD can only be diagnosed by the presence of Amyloid plaques, NFT, synaptic and neuronal loss, and atrophy of the brain in certain cerebral regions by autopsy. Cerebral computed axial tomography (CAT) scan can show brain atrophy, but present studies show no clear correlation with clinical findings. A likely diagnosis can be made by the evaluation of cognitive tests like the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (<u>40</u>), in the living patient and by excluding other diseases such as stroke or hypothyroidism.

VaD is the second most common form of dementia and is mainly caused by subcortical lacunary infarcts on the basis of cerebral microangiopathy (subcortical atherosclerotic encephalopathy) or less commonly caused by several cortical-subcortical infarcts on the base of macroangiopathy. These two forms are often combined. The localization and volume of the lesions are significant for the extent and progression of the demential syndrome. The entity of VaD is no longer understood as one distinct disorder but rather as a heterogeneous syndrome in which the underlying cause is some form of cerebrovascular disease like sequelae of recurrent strokes "multi-infarct dementia" and its ultimate manifestation is dementia. The three most important pathophysiological mechanisms are: large artery infarctions, usually cortical, sometimes also or exclusively subcortical in location; small artery infarctions or

lacunes, exclusively subcortical, in the distribution of small penetrating arteries, affecting the basal ganglia, caudate, thalamus, and internal capsule as well as the cerebellum and brain stem; and finally chronic subcortical ischemia occurring in the distribution of small arteries in the periventricular white matter. Neuroimaging should be performed in patients with suspected VaD, either cerebral CAT scan or the more accurate magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan. MRI will show cortical and subcortical infarctions as well as the presence of subcortical ischemic changes or leukoaraiosis. Diagnosis by radiographic finding is limited due to these white matter lesions (WML) being non-specific: it is impossible to differentiate between post-stroke patients with or without dementia.

1.3 Risk Factors for Dementia

The development of dementia is multifactorial, influenced both by genetic and environmental risk factors. Genetic factors seem to be involved in some cases as in mutations of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) and play a role mostly when referring to early-onset disease. Another strong genetic risk factor for AD is the presence of the epsilon 4 (e4) allele of the apolipoprotein E (apoE) gene (6). The vast majority of AD cases is late-onset and is probably influenced mainly by environmental factors. Besides age, around 20 non-genetic risk factors have been suggested for dementia. Unfortunately very few of them have been confirmed by randomized intervention trials. Elevated plasma tHcy and low-normal concentrations of Bvitamins (folate, vitamin B₁₂, and vitamin B₆) have been postulated as risk factors for two most common causes of dementia Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia (VaD). Some of the environmental risk factors that are determined by lifestyle such as smoking increase not only the risk for dementia but increase plasma tHcy causing HHCY in turn a risk factor in itself for dementia. Intensified risk factor evaluation is important because other risk factors may be magnified in subjects with elevated plasma tHcy. The interpretation is that, even if raised total homocysteine turns out itself not causally related to dementia, it is a strong prognostic marker and subjects with HHCY should be intensely treated for conventional risk factors like hypertension.

Table 1 shows the most important environmental, lifestyle factors and other diseases that modulate the risk for dementia.

Risk factor	Key references cited are prospective studies
Low blood pressure	Qiu, 2005 (<u>142</u>)
Hypertension	Bunce, 2005 (<u>14</u>)
Diabetes	Biessels, 2006 (<u>8</u>)
Cholesterol	Shobab, 2005 (<u>166</u>)
Obesity	Whitmer, 2005 (<u>203</u>)
Low intake of antioxidants	Engelhart 2005 (<u>35</u>)
Lack of fish in diet	Morris, 2003 (<u>122</u>); Huang, 2005 (<u>78</u>)
Low physical activity (midlife)	Yoshitake, 1995 (208); Fratiglioni, 2004 (43); Rovio, 2005 (154); Larson, 2006 (101)
Myocardial Infarction	Luchsinger, 2005 (<u>108</u>)
Atherosclerosis	Honig, 2005 (<u>77</u>)
Lack of alcohol consumption	Mukamal, 2003 (<u>128</u>), Luchsinger, 2004 (<u>109</u>)
Smoking	Piyathilake, 2003 (<u>141</u>)
Low testosterone in men	Henderson, 2004 (<u>66</u>); Hogervorst, 2004 (<u>76</u>)
Hormone replacement therapy in women over 65	Craig, 2005 (<u>25</u>)
Lack of NSAID use	Szekely, 2004 (<u>180</u>)
Increased blood markers of inflammation	Engelhart, 2004 (<u>34</u>)
Dietary copper intake	Morris, 2006 (<u>121</u>)
Lack of flavanoid-rich substances (tea, wine, chocolate)	Nurk, 2009 (<u>131</u>)
Lack of social or mental activities	Karp, 2004 (<u>90</u>)
Low education status	Karp, 2004 (<u>90</u>)
Depression	Green, 2003 (<u>56</u>)
HHCY and B-vitamin deficiency	See table 2 and 3

Table 1. Environmental, lifestyle factors, and other diseases can increase the risk for dementia.

1.4 Clinical Studies Validate Homocysteine's Position as a Prognostic Marker for Cognitive Decline and Dementia

HCY is a sulfur-containing and non-protein forming amino acid and occurs naturally in all humans. HCY acts as a cytotoxin and can be recycled into methionine or converted into cysteine with the aid of B-vitamins. Plasma tHcy is a nutritional metabolic marker. Mild to moderate HHCY (tHcy 12-30 μ mol/l) is a marker for deficiencies in B-vitamins (folate, B₁₂, B₆).

Neurodegenerative diseases include a wide group of disorders of various etiologies and clinical features. They all have in common structural and functional protein modifications, resulting in deterioration of certain nerve cells or neurons. Dementia, AD, and stroke are all examples of neurodegenerative diseases associated with HHCY.

A causal link between HHCY and CNS disorders was first described in patients with cystathionine beta synthase (CBS) deficiency. These patients suffer from mental retardation, cerebral atrophy, seizures, and cognitive dysfunction in addition to severely elevated plasma concentrations of tHcy (>70 μ mol/l) (57;126). In a systematic review of nine case-control studies higher concentrations of tHcy and lower concentrations of folate and vitamin B₁₂ in AD patients (193) were verified. VaD is caused mainly by micro- and macrovascular lesions reflected by the presence of silent brain infarction and extensive white matter hyperintensity. The Northern Manhattan Study reported a concentration of HHCY >15 μ mol/l to be a strong independent risk factor for VaD and cerebral ischemia. (205). The Rotterdam Scan Study, in which 1077 healthy elderlies were examined, showed WML to be significantly associated with age and hypertension as well as with elevated tHcy (194). Another study showed HHCY in patients with VaD increased the danger for subcortical vascular encephalopathy even more than established risk factors like smoking, hyperlipidemia, and high blood pressure (206).

The inverse relation between HHCY as well as in some cases folate deficiency and cognitive impairment and/or dementia have been shown in the following prospective studies and listed in Table 2 and 3. One of the first prospective studies was on patients with a clinical diagnosis of AD in a study by Clarke (23) where it was found that the baseline level of total homocysteine was related to the rate of disease progression. Several community-based prospective studies have since been completed in initially dementia-free subjects. When discussing epidemiological studies, it is important to consider which factors should be included as covariates. All studies should include gender, age and, in relation to the risk of dementia, additional risk factors such as the genetics (like presence of apoE4), years of

education, race, and possibly smoking, depression, and socioeconomic status should be considered. While some of these, notably age, gender, and smoking are also related to total homocysteine concentrations (<u>149</u>), there will be a risk of over-adjusting if very strong determinants of total homocysteine, such as intake or blood concentrations of folate and vitamin B_{12} , are included. Still, in the following prospective studies and listed in Table 2 one or more B-vitamins were included in the analysis, and the prospective association between tHcy and cognitive deficit remained significant and were able to validate this relationship.

In a study with 32 healthy elderly individuals, age >65 years, by McCaddon et al. (<u>112</u>) concentrations of tHcy were able to predict cognitive decline showing a maximal effect on spatial copying skills tested by MMSE and Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-cognitive subscale (Adas-Cog). Using Data from the Framingham study including 1092 dementia free subjects with a mean age of 76 years Seshadri et al. (<u>165</u>) demonstrated that after an 8 year follow-up an elevation of 5 μ mol/l in plasma tHcy concentration increased the risk for AD by 40 percent (Figure 2).



Figure 2

Data from the Framingham Study on the increase in the incidence of dementia in elderly subjects with tHcy > 14 μ mol/l. The Framingham study is a follow-up study for 12 years that included 1092 subjects aged (68-97 years) without dementia at baseline.

Again, an inverse correlation between tHcy and attention and memory was demonstrated by Teunissen in 144 subjects over a follow-up of 6 years after adjusting for several factors, including folate (181). Even over a shorter follow-up of only 2.3 years Garcia et al. confirmed that tHcy was inversely correlated with executive function in 180 subjects. Increase in total homocysteine over time was associated with decline in test scores for executive function and learning. Analysis was adjusted for multiple factors, including folate and vitamin B_{12} (46). In a further study by Nurk et al., a higher risk for memory deficits after 6 years was demonstrated in 2189 subjects, aged 65-67, when baseline concentration of tHcy was in the highest quintile and folate and vitamin B₁₂ in the lowest quintile. Subjects with memory deficits at baseline showed higher tHcy and lower folate status (132). Another study with 819 subjects by Ravaglia et al. (146) calculated a hazard ratio for AD of 1.54 for each SD in tHcy showing a strongly dose-related effect. The most recent study by Zylberstein et al. (212) examined mid-life HHCY and evaluated 1368 women 35 yrs later and is until now the only study with a follow-up longer than 8 yrs. This study showed that the highest tHcy tertile was related to a hazard ratio of 1.7 (95% CI 1.1-2.6) for developing any dementia, 2.1 (95% CI 1.2-3.7, n=100) for AD and 2.4 (95% CI 1.3-4.7, n=68) for AD without cerebrovascular disease and confirmed midlife HHCY as a risk factor.

Subjects	Age	Follow up	Tests	Results	Study
32	>65 yrs	5 yrs	MMSE,	tHcy predicted cognitive decline in	McCaddon, 2001
healthy			ADAS-Cog	healthy elderly, maximal effect on	(<u>112</u>)
subjects				spatial copying skills	
(22					
female)					
1092 non-	Mean	8 yrs	Cases with	Relative risk 1.9 (1.3 to 2.8) for	Seshadri, 2002
demented	76 yrs		dementia and	dementia and 1.9 (1.2 to 3.0) for AD.	(<u>165</u>)
subjects			Alzheimer	Increase in tHcy of 5 μ mol/l increased	
(667			disease were	the multivariable-adjusted risk of AD	
female)			identified after	by 40 percent	
			8 years		
144	30-	6 yrs	Tests of	Inverse correlation between tHcy and	Teunissen, 2003
	80yrs		cognitive	attention and memory.	(<u>181</u>)
			speed,	Adjusted for several factors, including	
			attention,	folate	
			verbal		
			memory		

Table 2. Prospective studies linking tHcy to cognitive decline or dementia

180	>65 yrs	2.3 yrs	MMSE, verbal	tHcy inversely correlated with	Garcia, 2004
			learning,	executive function. Increase in tHcy	(<u>46</u>)
			dementia	over time associated with decline in	
			rating,	test scores for executive function and	
			executive	learning. Multiple adjustments,	
			function	including folate and vitamin	
				B ₁₂	
816	74 yrs	3.8 yrs	Incident	Hazard ratio for AD of 1.54 for each SD	Ravaglia, 2005
			dementia,	in tHcy. Strongly dose-related. Multiple	(<u>146</u>)
			including	adjustments, including cardiovascular	
			Alzheimer's	disease,	
			disease	folate and vitamin B ₁₂	
2189	65-67	6 yrs	Memory	Mean tHcy was higher and folate was	Nurk, 2005
subjects	yrs		performance	lower in subjects with memory deficit	(<u>132</u>)
			(Kendrick	at baseline. Baseline tHcy in the	
			Object	highest quintile, folate in the lowest	
			Learning Test)	quintile and vitamin B_{12} in the lowest	
				quintile predicted a higher risk for	
				memory deficit after 6 yrs.	
1368	38-60 yrs	35 years	MMSE, ADAS-	The highest tHcy tertile was related to a	Zylberstein, 2009
women			Cog, and	hazard ratio of 1.7 (95% CI 1.1-2.6) for	(<u>212</u>)
			Clinical	developing any dementia, 2.1 (95% CI	
			Dementia	1.2-3.7, n=100) for AD and 2.4 (95% CI $$	
			Rating	1.3-4.7, $n=68$) for AD without	
				cerebrovascular disease. HHCY in	
				midlife is an independent risk factor for	
				the development of late-life Alzheimer	
				dementia in women	

The link between B-vitamin deficiency and cognitive dysfunction and/or dementia is more controversial. The following recent prospective studies on B-vitamins and subsequent impairment or dementia have shown striking findings and are listed in Table 3.

Wang et al. (<u>199</u>) found that in subjects with a high baseline MMSE (≥ 26) and serum folate concentrations <12 nmol/L or serum vitamin B₁₂ concentrations < 250 pmol/L, the relative risk of incident AD was increased versus those with normal concentrations of both vitamins. A study by Kado et al. demonstrated that after 7 years 370 elderly subjects aged 70-79 with folate in the bottom quartile (<3.15 ng/ml) had a 1.6-fold higher risk of being in the worst quartile for cognitive performance (<u>86</u>). The Veterans Affairs Normative Vitamin B Aging Study (<u>185</u>) found that the cognitive test that best related to B vitamin status and total homocysteine involved constructional praxis (a spatial copying task). The changes in scores on this test over 3 years were strongly related to folate status even when tHcy and the other plasma B-vitamin concentrations were included in the regression. Corrada et al. (24) found that a higher intake than the recommended daily allowance of folate was associated with a significantly reduced risk of AD in 579 subjects when followed over 9.3 years, but no effect of vitamin B12 on risk reduction. In the prospective Conselice study with 816 subjects in an elderly community in Italy by Ravaglia et al. in 2005 (146) a strong dose-related inverse relationship was found between incident dementia and serum folate. Low serum folate (<11.8 nmol/l) at baseline was associated with 2-fold risk of AD after adjustment for tHcy. No association was found with vitamin B_{12} concentrations. Nurk et al. tested episodic memory scores in 2173 subjects over a follow-up of 6 years (132) and discovered that baseline serum folate was dose-related to test score; a decrease in folate over 6 yr associated with lower test score. No prospective association with vitamin B_{12} was found. Another study in 2006 by Ravaglia et al. (145) including 165 subjects with MCI a hazard ratio for conversion to AD was 3.11 for those with low folate (<10.4 nmol/l) was found.

When trying to summarize the results on B-vitamins we encounter inconsistent findings. On the one hand, several vitamin B_{12} prospective studies were able to show an inverse relationship with cognitive decline or the incidence of dementia like the study by Wang et al. (<u>199</u>), on the other hand there are a number of studies finding no association with vitamin B_{12} when adjusting for other B-vitamins and tHcy (<u>24:86:185</u>) We must keep in mind though that this may be a result of different populations studied, different tests, assays, and endpoints. A further factor may be that concentrations of serum vitamin B₁₂ don't automatically reveal the amount of vitamin B₁₂ available for cellular function which is carried by transport protein transcobolamin-II. Better functional markers might be tHcy, although not specific for vitamin B₁₂ status, methylmalonic acid and/or holotranscobolamin-II (<u>67:105;157</u>).

We can conclude that in several very different population studies, low-normal blood folate associated with risk concentrations were а of developing dementia (24;86;132;145;146;185;199) However some studies that need to be considered were not able to confirm these results, on the contrary one reported that higher blood concentrations of folate were associated with a greater rate of global cognitive decline, even though in the same cohort a strong positive cross-sectional relationship was found between folate and cognition (120). These conflicting findings need to be examined further and the possibly harmful effect of high folate supplementation (183) must be taken into consideration especially in the context of low vitamin B_{12} status (123).

Subjects	Age	Follow	Tests	Results	Study
		up			
370	>75 yrs	3 yrs	Incident	Low folate (< 10 nM) alone, or low folate and low	Wang, 2001
			dementia	vitamin $B_{12}\ (< 150\ pmol/l)$ were associated with	(<u>199</u>)
			and AD	incident AD, adjusted for age, gender, education.	
				Only significant in subjects with baseline $MMSE >$	
				26	
370	74 yrs	7 yrs	Multiple	Baseline folate and vitamin B_6 inversely related to	Kado, 2005
			cognitive	cognitive decline when adjusted for age and	(<u>86</u>)
			domains: scores	gender, but only folate significant	
			summed	when other covariates including tHcy were added	
321 men		3 yrs	MMSE, working	Baseline plasma concentrations and dietary intake	Tucker, 2005
			memory, verbal	of folate, vitamin $B_{\rm 6}\!\!\!,$ and vitamin $B_{\rm 12}$ related to	(<u>185</u>)
			memory, verbal	praxis; baseline dietary folate related to verbal	
			fluency,	fluency. Change in praxis scores over 3 yrs was	
			constructional	dose-related to folate and vitamin $B_{\rm 6}$	
			praxis	concentrations and intake. Multiple adjustments,	
				including education. Folate remained associated	
				when all 3 vitamins and tHcy were included.	
579	70 yrs	9,3 yrs	Incidence of	Higher intake (> RDA) of folate (RR 0.4) or	Corrada, 2005
			possible	vitamin B_6 (RR 0.4) associated with reduced risk of	(<u>24</u>)
			or probable	AD. No effect of vitamin B_{12} . Multiple	
			AD	adjustments. When folate and vitamin $B_{\rm 6}$ included	
				together, only folate remained significant	
816	74 yrs	3.8 yrs	Incident	Low serum folate (<11.8 nmol/l) at baseline	Ravaglia, 2005
			dementia,	associated with 2-fold risk of AD after adjustment	(<u>146</u>)
			including	for tHcy and many covariates, including	
			Alzheimer's	cardiovascular disease, ApoE4. Dose-related	
			disease	inverse relationship of folate with cumulative	
				incidence. No association with vitamin $B_{12} \label{eq:basic}$	
				concentrations	
2,173	65–67	6 yrs	Episodic	Baseline serum folate dose-related to test score;	Nurk, 2005
	yrs		Memory	increase (decrease) in folate over 6 yr associated	(<u>132</u>)
			scores	with higher (lower) test score. No prospective	
				association with vitamin $B_{12}. \label{eq:B12}$ Multiple adjustments.	
165 with		2,8 yrs	Conversion to	Hazard ratio for conversion to AD was 3.11 for	Ravaglia, 2006
MCI			AD	those with low folate (<10.4 nmol/l). Multiple $% \left(10.4 \right) = 100000000000000000000000000000000000$	(<u>145</u>)
				adjustments.	

Table 3. Prospective studies linking B-vitamins (low folate status) and subsequent cognitive impairment or dementia

The following examples of retrospective studies further verify the link between HHCY and cognitive decline and are listed below in Table 4 for further review.

Elevated plasma tHcy (>13 μ mol/l) in 200 healthy postmenopausal women, aged 56-67, was shown to be linked to poor performance of combined verbal and working memory independent of age and hormone therapy (21). It has also been demonstrated in 209 subjects with a mean age of 76 that both tHcy and methylmalonic acid (MMA) were independently and inversely correlated with movement and cognitive performance (102). In stroke free subjects MMSE scores were negatively correlated to tHcy in subjects >65 years, and a concentration of tHcy >15 μ mol/l was associated with 3.3 less points on MMSE test (205). Concentration of tHcy correlated negatively to cognitive performance in 812 dementia and stroke free subjects after adjusting for possible confounding factors (32). In the Framingham Offspring Study with 2096 dementia and stroke free subjects aged >40 years, concentrations of tHcy were inversely related to 9 of 12 cognitive measures tested and was significant in subject 60 years or older (33). These results were confirmed by other studies on elderly people (117;147;163). Serum concentrations of markers of vitamin B₁₂ deficiency were also related to certain cognitive functions (72;114). Also in healthy individuals, B-vitamin plasma concentrations seemed to be inversely related to deficits in neuro-cognitive tests (54).

Subjects	Age	tHcy, vitamins	Tests	Results	Study
200 healthy	56-	Mean	California Verbal	tHcy > 13 μmol/l was associated	Clark
women	67	tHcy= 10 μmol/l	Learning Test-II,	with poor performance of combined	(<u>21</u>)
	yrs		Ten unrelated words,	verbal and working memory	
			WAIS Letter-	independent of age, and hormone	
			Number Sequencing	therapy	
209 subjects	76	Means	Postural-Locomotor-	tHcy and MMA correlated	Lewerin
	yrs	tHcy= 17.2 µmol/l	Manual test	independently with movement and	(<u>102</u>)
		MMA= 220 nmol/l	A battery of	cognitive performance	
		Folate= 16.0 nmol/l	cognitive tests		
		B ₁₂ = 325 pmol/l			
2871	40	Means	MMSE scores	MMSE scores were negatively	Wright
subjects free	yrs	tHcy= 10.2 µmol/l		related to tHcy in subjects > 65 yrs.	(<u>205</u>)
of stroke		MMA= 214 nmol/l		3.3 lower MMSE points in subjects	
		17% had		with tHcy > 15 μ M	
		MMA > 271 nmol/l			
812 subjects		Means	Visual spatial	tHcy was negatively related, and	Elias
free of		tHcy= 10.0 µmol/l	organization,	vitamin B ₆ was positively related to	(<u>32</u>)
dementia		Folate= 38.5 nmol/l	working memory,	cognitive performance even after	
and stroke		B ₁₂ = 389 pmol/l	scanning tracking,	adjusting for possible confounding	
			abstract reasoning	factors	
2096	>40	Mean	Multiple measures	tHcy was inversely related to 9 of	Elias
subjects free	yrs	tHcy= 10.32 µmol/l	of cognitive function	12 cognitive measures tested. This	(<u>33</u>)
of dementia		in 705 subjects aged		was significant in subjects who	
and stroke		60-82 years		were 60 years or older	
1789	≥ 60	Median	The modified	A modest, significant correlation	Miller
elderly,	yrs	tHcy= 9.8 µmol/l	MMSE test, and 6	was observed between tHcy and	(<u>117</u>)
			other cognitive tests	several measures of cognitive	
				function	
650 healthy,	≥65	Mean tHcy was	MMSE test	tHcy is an in depended and graded	Ravaglia
free of	yrs	higher in subjects		risk factor for cognitive decline	(<u>147</u>)
dementia		with lower MMSE		with age	
		scores (11.9 vs. 14.5			
		μ mol/l for scores >			
		28 vs. < 26			

Table 4. Exam	ples for retros	pective studies	linking tHev to	cognitive decline	or dementia

When interpreting the studies described above, no matter how statistically accurate they have been conducted, they are observational and not able to differentiate causality from reverse causality. Elevated concentration of tHcy can be lowered by supplementing B-vitamins. To show causality between B-vitamins, or tHcy and dementia it is necessary to carry out randomized clinical trials with doses of B vitamins that lower tHcy in the elderly. Several studies have tested the hypothesis that lowering tHcy might improve cognitive function and/or decrease the rate of cerebral atrophy. Some studies were able to confirm this (13;30;132;195) others were not (103). One study on elderly adults with vascular disease supplemented with 2.5 mg folic acid and 0.5 mg vitamin B₁₂ for the duration of a year showed no improvement of cognitive function even though tHcy was significantly decreased (178). In a further study including elderly patients with vitamin B₁₂ deficiency who were treated with folic acid and vitamin B₁₂ during a time frame of 24 weeks failed to show positive results, as well (<u>36</u>). Taken together, the associations between HHCY and cognitive dysfunction have been validated. HHCY position as a prognostic marker for cognitive decline and dementia has been demonstrated. Elevated concentrations of tHcy can be lowered by supplementing B-vitamins. Yet, their effect on cognitive function in vitamin intervention studies remains inconclusive. Because dementia is developed over several decades, vitamin treatment for a short duration might not be sufficient and will have to be initiated early in the disease process and last for several years in order to show an effect on cognitive decline in order to prove causality.

1.5 Pathobiochemical Mechanisms in Dementia

Upon autopsy and radiographic examinations the major dementia syndromes each manifest differently. A multifactorial pathogenesis seems likely when considering the number of risk factors associated with the development of dementia. Deposition of Amyloid beta (A β) in the brain and phosphorylation of tau leading to accumulation of NFT in neuronal cell bodies are associated with AD. Influencing functional proteins that enhance these processes seem to be an important link between risk factors and neurodegeneration.

Amyloid beta hypothesis

A β is a peptide of 39–43 amino acids that appears to be the main constituent of amyloid plaques in the brains of AD patients. As part of the normal aging process A β is deposited extensively in the brain. One of the characteristics in patients with AD is the widespread deposition of A β within senile plaques and in cerebral and meningeal blood vessels (52;111). The endoplasmatic reticulum protein (Herp) has recently received attention because of its capacity to enhance the γ -secretase activity and thereby the A β 1-40 accumulation in the brain (156). There is a relation to cognitive decline and low concentrations of A β in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) samples from AD patients and VaD (41).

Tau hypothesis

Tau is an important protein in the human brain implicated in memory decline and dementia. It an intracellular microtubule-associated protein, stabilizing and promoting the is polymerization of microtubules (202). Microtubules play an important role in the protection of cellular architecture of neurons. Normally tau is found in the axons of neurons (9). In AD tau becomes hyperphosphorylated and aggregates into PHF which accumulate in neuronal cell bodies as NFT. These correlate with cognitive deficits, neurodegenerative disorder and dementia. NFT (1:96) cause neuron degeneration and neuron loss in the hippocampus, substantia innominata, locus coeruleus, and in the temporal, parietal, and frontal cortex. Making tau detached and accessible for proteolysis is probably key in neuroprotection. The enzyme protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) can dephosphorylate P-tau in PHF (201). Activation of kinases with the capacities of phosphorylating tau (GSK3beta, phosphatidylinositol 3kinase (PI3K), MAP kinase) may be stimulated by increased A β (37). Increased P-tau may be related to lower phosphatase activity or to an increased kinase activity. Some studies were able to show a decreased expression or activity of PP2A in cerebral tissue of patients with AD (196) (169). In fibroblasts of patients with AD, the expression of PP2A protein was reduced; simultaneously mRNA for PP2A was increased. This suggests the defect or failure lies not in the pretranslational pathway but possibly in posttranslational modifications or in the protein stability itself (210). A therapeutic potential for AD may involve influencing these phosphatases or kinases.

Mixed dementia (AD with cerebrovascular disease) refers to the concurrence of AD and VaD and is increasingly recognized as a condition requiring independent consideration. It is often difficult to distinguish AD from VaD, let alone to determine which is etiologically most important when both are present. The high prevalence of both AD and VaD is such that their concurrence is common. Whether these vascular lesions are coincidental or causal in the pathogenic processes of AD remains to be defined. In autopsy series, vascular pathology was found in 34 to 50 percent of those with pathologic AD. About one third of the patients diagnosed with VaD had AD pathology at autopsy (<u>88</u>). In addition to their frequent coincidence, there is increasing evidence that AD and VaD may share etiologic or pathogenic features and/or influence each other's course.

2 Homocysteine

2.1 Overview

HCY is a cytotoxin which is why this product should be eliminated from the cell or converted to less harmful substances. A relationship between HHCY and pathologic alteration in the human organism was first described in 1962. Carson and Neil reported elevated HCY concentrations in the urine of mentally retarded children in Belfast (<u>17</u>). This disease was named homocystinuria and was discovered by two other groups simultaneously in Philadelphia and Milwaukee (<u>49;173</u>). Pathological examination showed distinct vascular lesions, thrombosis and fatty degeneration of the liver (<u>51</u>). Biochemical analysis showed that a deficiency of vitamin B₆-dependant enzyme CBS forms the basis of homocystinuria (<u>125</u>). Today over 100 different mutations have been identified in the gene encoding this enzyme (<u>97</u>). Homocystinuria is a rare genetic disease associated with a severe HHCY (plasma tHcy 100-250 µmol/l). Mild to moderate HHCY (plasma tHcy 12-30 µmol/l) is common in elderly people (<u>69;84;93;176</u>). The cause is often a folate, vitamin B₁₂, and/or vitamin B₆ deficiency (<u>22;45;55;69;93;176</u>), as well as a decline of renal function with increased age (<u>70;130;190</u>). Moderate HHCY in the adult is a risk factor for atherosclerotic (<u>68;176;198</u>), thrombotic (<u>92</u>), pregnancy complications (<u>115</u>), and neurodegenerative diseases (<u>47;143</u>).

Concentrations of tHcy between 10-12 μ mol/l are considered normal. HHCY is either mild when tHcy is between 16-30 μ mol/l, moderate when tHcy is between 31-100 μ mol/l, or severe when tHcy > 100 μ mol/l (<u>81</u>). Chemical structures of homocysteine, methionine, and cystathionine are shown in Figure 3.

Homocysteine	HS-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -CH(NH ₂)-COOH
Methionine	CH ₃ -S-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -CH(NH ₂)-COOH
Cystathionine	HOOC-CH(NH ₂)CH-S-CH ₂ -CH ₂ -CH(NH ₂)-COOH

Figure 3 Chemical structures of homocysteine, methionine, and cystathionine

2.2 Biochemical Aspects of Homocysteine

HCY is a sulfur-containing, non-protein forming amino acid and a product in the metabolism of the essential amino acid methionine (<u>118</u>). Methionine enters the body by alimentary animal proteins. HCY is a small molecule (molecular weight: 135 Dalton) and not well soluble in H_2O . The sulfur containing amino acid methionine enters the human organism exclusively via alimentary proteins. It functions as a universal methyl group donor in the human body when activated to S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) by the methionine adenosyltransferase (<u>Figure 4</u>). These methyl groups are transferred to a wide spectrum of acceptors, such as melatonin, DNA, RNA, protein, epinephrine, myelin, creatine, and phospholipids. When one of these acceptors is methylated, S-adenosyl homocysteine (SAH) is formed out of SAM by S-adenosylmethionine-dependent methyltransferase. SAH in turn can then be hydrolyzed to form HCY in a reversible reaction mediated by SAH-hydrolase.

Because HCY is toxic, a low cellular HCY concentration is necessary. The cell has three possibilities to achieve this: elimination from the cell, remethylation to methionine, or the irreversible degradation via the transsulfuration pathway (Figure 4). HCY can be remethylated to form methionine by accepting the methyl group of 5-methyltetrahydrofolate (5-MTHF) by the vitamin B_{12} -dependant enzyme methionine synthase (MS). Alternatively this can be achieved by receiving the methyl group from betaine by the betaine homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT). However this reaction is primarily limited to the liver and consequently plays a secondary role as determinant of tHcy concentrations.

If there is an excess of methionine, like after a protein rich meal, HCY flows preferably via the transsulfuration pathway. HCY and serine are condensed to form cystathionine (Cys) by CBS and then to cysteine by γ -cystathionase (CS) and then to glutathione, both enzymes being irreversible and requiring vitamin B₆ as a cofactor. Folate, vitamin B₁₂, and vitamin B₆ are essential in maintaining a constantly low tHcy concentration. Because these B-vitamins are important cofactors for HCY catabolism, an elevated concentration of tHcy can indicate B-vitamin deficiency (<u>39;167</u>).



Figure 4

Homocysteine metabolism, pathways, and enzymes: a: methionine synthase (MS) and betaine homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT), b: SAM-dependent methyltransferase, c: SAH-hydrolase, d: cystathionine beta synthase (CBS), e: γ-cystathionase

Besides being important cofactors for enzymes in HCY metabolism, these vitamins have further independent characteristics (7;20;152;197). Folate deficiency not only induces HHCY, but is also responsible for hypomethylation, DNA damage, and disturbed cellular proliferation (94;175). Vitamin B_{12} is a cofactor for MS and is hereby linked with folate utilization. Therefore an isolated vitamin B_{12} deficiency, in spite of a sufficient folate supply, can reduce HCY-remethylation and hereby cause hypomethylation. Thereby HCY is increased, and folate becomes functionally deficient, despite its normal concentration in plasma. Deficiencies in folate, vitamin B_{12} , and vitamin B_6 limit enzyme activity, thereby blocking degradation of HCY and consecutively cause an intracellular increase of HCY concentration (29;83).

HCY can be actively transported out of the cell and into the plasma where less than 2% can be found in its free and reduced form. Only 0.29% of HCY are found in the form of HCY-Thiolacton which is significant because of its high toxicity. HCY is mainly bound to proteins in two different variations. The first binds via SH-group and the second via amino group (<u>148</u>). The N-protein bound HCY is associated with functional damage of proteins and cannot be detected by current assays (<u>82</u>). The main component though is made up of disulfide complexes where HCY is bound by SH-groups of plasma proteins, like albumin. Mixed disulfides are formed also with cysteine, as well as symmetric disulfides with HCY producing homocystine (<u>187</u>). Free reduced HCY is not very stable and not soluble at neutral pH levels (<u>60</u>). Therefore the concentration of free HCY is extremely low (only 1-2% of concentration of tHcy in the physiological range of < 12 μ mol/l) (<u>150</u>). When HCY is reduced, it can be dissolved out of its disulfide form. This is usually used in many in vitro assays designed for quantification of tHcy concentrations in plasma. Table 5 shows the distribution of main forms of HCY in vivo in percent.

 Table 5. Different components of plasma HCY

Reduced form:	
Free Homocysteine (HCY)	1-2%
Oxidized form:	
Homo-Disulfide; Homocystine	5-10%
Mixed Disulfides:	
Protein-bound Homocysteine	80-90%
Cysteine-Homocysteine	5-10%

Approximately 70% of HCY is metabolized in the epithelia of the kidneys. Only small amounts of HCY are generally detected in the urine of healthy individuals. When kidney function is reduced, lower levels of remethylation and transsulfuration are found, thereby leading to accumulation of HCY and consecutive HHCY (<u>190-192</u>). This may also explain why especially older patients with reduction of renal function often have HHCY.

2.3 Homocysteine Metabolism in the Central Nervous System

The HCY metabolism described above gives a general overview but probably does not occur in full except in a few tissues like the liver or kidney (<u>39</u>). In the brain the metabolism is limited (<u>16</u>). BHMT has not been detected in brain tissue. In the liver about 50% of cysteine for glutationine synthesis is produced by the transsulfuration pathway. However this is not the case in the brain. CBS expression and activity is observed in the brain, but limited brain cystathionase activity is detected in only a few studies with wide regional span leading to the conclusion that expression and function of cystathionase in the brain seems questionable.

The metabolism of HCY is an important source of SAM (<u>162</u>). This methyl donor is important for the synthesis and catabolism of neurotransmitters, phospholipids (phosphatidylcholine being the methylated product of phosphatidylethanolamine), DNA methylation, and activation of several essential enzymes in the brain. The role of SAM in the brain corresponds with SAM reducing apoptosis by 50% caused by HCY in cortical neuronal cells (<u>75</u>). SAM supplementation after ischemia was able to improve the blood brain barrier and neuronal survival (<u>144</u>).

A specific cellular receptor seems to be responsible for the transport of HCY in brain cells (58). Transfer between different brain regions and between brain and blood has not yet been well studied. The integrity of the blood brain barrier seems to play an important role in the distribution of HCY. Severe HHCY in patients with CBS deficiency is associated with a 10-fold increase in CSF tHcy (179). Even though HCY remethylation doesn't occur with the aid of betaine in the brain, lowering the concentration of plasma tHcy with betaine causes a significant decrease of CSF tHcy (179) suggesting HCY can be transported across the blood brain barrier in both directions. Several neurological diseases are associated with increased brain and CSF concentrations of tHcy or increased concentrations of its precursor SAH (80:151). In general, plasma tHcy is positively correlated to brain or CSF concentrations (135). Therefore an increased plasma tHcy concentration may reflect an increased brain or CSF tHcy

concentration. HHCY leads to increased SAH, a potent competitive inhibitor of many SAMdependent methyltransferases in the human brain. Hypomethylation in the brain is related to numerous functional and biochemical defects. The importance of methylation for the CNS has been demonstrated. Accordingly, supplementing SAM after ischemia improves the blood brain barrier and neuronal survival and protects against disturbances in brain phospholipids (<u>87;184</u>). Other limiting factors for HCY metabolism in the brain are that folate must be reduced before entering the blood-brain barrier, and the majority of brain cysteine and vitamin B₁₂ must be imported from the blood.

3 Factors leading to Hyperhomocysteinemia

3.1 Genetics in Hyperhomocysteinemia

It is important to differentiate between the autosomal recessive form of severe HHCY and the mild HHCY which is induced by heterozygote form, and minor defects of the CBS, 5,10methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR), or MS. The severe form of HHCY develops because of an autosomal recessive genetic deficiency in CBS or MTHFR. The incidence for homozygosity in CBS deficiency is documented as 1:200.000-1:344.000. Heterozygote's plasma tHcy is increased by 2- to 4-fold in comparison with healthy individuals. While a deficiency of CBS can be treated by high dose vitamin B₆ in combination with folic acid, so far no therapeutic options exist for MTHFR deficiency, explaining why its prognosis is far worse (127). The MTHFR can also be affected by different point mutations, in which a partial activity of the enzyme is preserved. The most important factor for the development of mild HHCY is the thermolabile variant of MTHFR. It results from the point mutation (C677T) in the encoding region for the binding place of the MTHF in the MTHFR molecule. The amino acid alanine is replaced by valine. The consequence of this mutation is the reduced specific activity and catalytic function at 37°C of the TT-enzyme in comparison with the CCgenotype. Prevalence for homozygosity of this MTHFR gene mutation is between 5-18%, depending on population and race (12;119). A mild form of HHCY is only acquired when folate is deficient or low. When folate has an increased but still normal or elevated concentration, HHCY does not develop, because the high folate concentrations stabilize the TT enzyme (<u>63</u>).

3.2 Hyperhomocysteinemia and Vitamin Deficiency

Deficiencies in vitamins functioning as co-enzymes in HCY metabolism like folate, vitamin B_{6} , or vitamin B_{12} can induce HHCY. A substitution can normalize their plasma concentrations (<u>11;89;174</u>).

3.3 Diseases Associated with Hyperhomocysteinemia

Disease like renal failure, hypothyroidism, pernicious anemia and several malignant tumors are associated with elevated tHcy concentrations (62;104;153).

3.4 Influence of Medication and Lifestyle on Total Plasma Homocysteine

There are a large number of substances influencing tHcy. Some are direct antagonists of cofactors and enzyme activity; others have indirect effects i.e. by inducing malabsorption in the gastrointestinal tract or enzyme induction. Table 6 and Table 7 show the influence on plasma tHcy caused by different medications and lifestyle factors.

Medication	↑↓	Mechanism	Reference
Theophylline	Î	Vitamin B ₆ antagonist	(<u>186</u>)
Nitrousoxide	Î	Inactivation of MS	(<u>26</u>)
Methotrexate	Î	Competitive inhibition of folate	(<u>61</u>)
Fibrate	Î	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)	(<u>85</u>)
Niacin	Î	Vitamin B ₆ antagonist	(<u>48</u>)
L-DOPA	Î	Substrate for SAM-dependant methylation	(<u>211</u>)
Antiepileptics	Î	Decrease of folate and vitamin B ₆	(<u>4</u>)
N-acetylcysteine	\downarrow	Cleavage of disulfide bridges	(<u>161</u>)
Proton pump inhibitors	Î	Increase of stomach pH, causes vitamin B_{12} deficiency	(<u>159</u>)
Estrogen, progesterone	\downarrow	Hormone function	(<u>116</u>)
Tamoxifen	\downarrow	Partial agonist of estrogen receptor	(<u>18</u>)
Metformin	Ŷ	Inhibition of intrinsic factor secretion	(<u>15</u>)

Table 6. Influence of medication on total plasma homocysteine

Lifestyle	¢↓	Mechanism	
Smoking	Î	Interference with cobalamin, pyridoxine, and folate; production of radicals	(<u>15</u>)
			(1 40 400)
Alcoholism	Î	General malnutrition, block of methylation reaction	(<u>160;182</u>)
Coffee consumption	↑	Vitamin B antagonism	(50)
Confee consumption	I	\mathbf{v} italiifi \mathbf{D}_6 antagonisifi	(<u>39</u>)
Vegetarian Diet	↑	Vitamin B ₁₂ deficiency	(71)
	1		

4 Pathomechanisms linking Homocysteine to Neurodegeneration

There are several mechanisms by which HHCY can damage the brain. Elevated concentrations of plasma tHcy therefore either have a direct neurotoxic effect or cause damage by disturbing the methylation potential (SAM/SAH) of the brain.

HHCY can cause lowered SAM and elevated SAH, the potent competitive inhibitor for methyltransferases. Increased concentration of tHcy is associated with increased production of SAH via the reversible reaction mediated by SAH-hydrolase. The importance of the transmethylation pathway in the brain can be recognized from studying patients with SAH-hydrolase deficiency. This rare disorder was associated with a diffuse white matter atrophy, restricted myelination of some brain regions, abnormal spectroscopy of cerebral white matter, and developmental delay. The neurological symptoms and brain abnormalities in the described patients were probably attributed to the severe SAH elevation (>100-fold). In contrast, plasma tHcy was only slightly elevated (14.5-15.9 μ mol/l) (5). Methyl groups are required for synthesis and catabolism of neurotransmitters as well as maintaining DNA methylation and hence are important in maintaining neurological health. A lowered ratio in SAM/SAH causes DNA damage and apoptosis demonstrating one important mechanism of neurotoxicity (<u>98</u>).

Experimental HHCY leads to increased concentrations of tHcy and SAH in rat brain (50). Neurological damage has been reported in CBS enzyme deficient mice (CBS -/+ or CBS -/-), where tHcy increased by approximately 2- to 50-fold in comparison to wild type mice, depending on the genotype and the type of diet. These animals show alterations in neuronal plasticity, suffered from severe retardation, and died early. Animals exposed to HCY accumulate this compound in the brain, suffer from restricted growth, neural or cognitive dysfunction, and impaired brain energy metabolism.

4.1 Homocysteine and Hypomethylation

Hypomethylation is one important mechanism explaining the toxic effect of elevated tHcy. Metabolic markers of methylation in blood like SAM and SAH reflect tissue methylation. (94;175). HCY increases neuronal death and DNA damage (98). PS1 gene expression is one important example that has been tested in relation to DNA methylation (44;158;164). Presenilins are a family of transmembrane proteins that function as a part of the γ -secretase protease complex. PS1 mediates the formation of A β from APP. When DNA is

hypomethylated, APP processing and hence A β production is accelerated by an up-regulation of PS1 gene. Interestingly, A β production can be reduced by silencing of the PS1 gene by exogenous SAM. These results suggest a silencing of the PS1 gene may be a target therapy for AD patients (<u>158;164</u>) and that the treatment of folate and vitamin B₁₂ deficiency might protect against A β accumulation in dementia by supplying methyl groups.

Factors that lower phosphorylation or enhance dephosphorylation of certain proteins may offer an approach to prevent some forms of neurodegeneration like in AD. Under physiological conditions, tau phosphorylation is regulated by a dynamic equilibrium between the kinases and phosphatases acting on the molecule. An important biological reaction where hypomethylation may increase damage to the brain in AD is the formation and clearance of Ptau (Figure 5). The dephosphorylation of P-tau is accomplished by the enzyme protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A). PP2A is regulated by the enzyme protein phosphatase 2A methyltransferase (PPMT) which is SAM-dependent. PP2A is composed of three subunits A, B and C. The regulatory subunit B is involved in substrate recognition. Methylation of the subunit C at Leu-309 by means of a specific SAM-dependent methyltransferase (PPMT) facilitated assembly of the AC-dimer subunit and forming the PP2A holoenzyme. This means reduced methylation capacity can increase P-tau by decreasing dephosphorylation. Dephosphorylation is important because it enables the detachment of tau, making proteolysis accessible. In the brain tissue of AD patients expression or activity of PP2A was reduced compared to controls (169;196). Furthermore fibroblasts of AD patients showed a low expression of PP2A (210).

Clinical studies have not yet tested the effect of methylation on the pathophysiology of tau or $A\beta$.

Another mechanism which may accelerate P-tau accumulation is the increase of A β by the activation of the kinases that phosphorylate tau (GSK3beta, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), MAP kinase) (<u>37</u>).



Figure 5 SAM, SAH, and HCY influence the dephosphorylation of P-tau and Aβ metabolism.

There seems to be a positive association between plasma concentrations of tHcy and that of A β 1-40 (79). The endoplasmatic reticulum protein (Herp) is responsive to HCY and is capable of enhancing the γ -secretase activity and thereby the A β 1-40 accumulation in the brain (156). Along with this direct mechanism there is evidence that HCY can act neurotoxic by potentiating A β neurotoxicity (74;99). Neuronal cells are susceptible to not only intracellular but also extracellular accumulation of A β 42 induced by homocysteic acid (64). HCY also increased A β toxicity and caspase-3 activation in vascular smooth muscle cells dose-dependently. When taking into account the current data published on this subject matter, HCY seems to accelerate dementia by stimulating A β deposition in the brain.
4.2 Homocysteine and Glutamate Receptors

HCY is capable of acting on N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subtype as a glutamate receptor agonist. Brain cells produce homocysteic acid from HCY oxidation which is then released when stimulated. Homocysteic acid can function as an excitatory neurotransmitter through the activation of the NMDA receptor. Hence the neurotoxicity can be blocked by NMDA receptor antagonists (<u>106</u>).

4.3 Homocysteine and Inflammation

There are few studies examining HHCY's effect on inflammation. Some studies were able to show that a negative association between higher HCY and cognitive function was strongest in persons with a high level of IL-6 (207), CRP, and Alpha-1-antichymotrypsin (ACT) (189).

5 Aim of Work and Study Hypothesis

Although there is clear evidence that there is an association between HHCY and neurodegenerative disease, the causal link between the two is still not well studied. Of the wide range of risk factors that have been postulated, HHCY is one of the few that could easily be influenced. HHCY is a marker for vitamin deficiency and is the main reason for hypomethylation. The aim of our work was to contribute further to risk factor evaluation by identifying neurodegenerative changes in the presence of HHCY and B-vitamin depletion and to further improve pathobiochemical understanding by clarifying the influence HHCY has on phosphorylation and methylation.

The causal effects of HCY metabolism on neurodegeneration in vivo remain elusive. Therefore we tested the hypothesis that increased tHcy is causally related to accumulation of P-tau protein in brain tissues via affecting PP2A activity or level. For this purpose, we studied Wistar rats fed methionine or homocystine rich diets, compared to those fed a control diet. In addition we proposed that changes in phosphorylation caused by HHCY can lower the activity of PP2A and thereby causing enhanced tau phosphorylation and decreased dephosphorylation of other functional proteins like PNF-H in rat brain. We also studied a marker for inflammation, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), in brain tissue extracts in relation to the metabolic conditions caused by the diets. Hopefully, this study can promote impulses for future strategies for large-scale multi-centered randomized clinical trial studies with HCY-lowering vitamins like folate to establish if a proportion of dementia in the world can be prevented.

IV Materials and Methods

1 Study Design

We induced HHCY in Wistar rats by two different approaches and tested the effect on blood and brain methylation, neurodegenerative markers, and functional protein activity. Our study consisted of a feeding experiment with three different treatment groups. Nineteen animals received a homocystine enriched diet (1.7%), 18 received a methionine rich diet (2.4%), and 18 received a control diet. The rats' age at recruitment was 8 weeks and the duration of the study was 5 months. Body weight was determined before and at the end of the experiment. After the end of the 5 months, animals were euthanized. The brain was removed for further analysis.

2 Animal Model



Photo 1 A female Wistar rat, 7 months old at the end of the dietary intervention

We used 8 week old female Wistar rats purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany) with similar starting body weight of approximately 200g. To ensure an acclimatization of the animals after their arrival, they were fed several days with a standard diet and tap water. Subsequently the animals were randomized into three treatment groups. For randomization 25 animals were put into a large cage. From the middle of the cage, a rat was removed and assigned to one of the groups. In the first cycle rats were sorted into groups 1-3; the second cycle was distributed in reverse order, continuing until the cage was empty. The remaining animals were randomized by the same procedure ensuring group equality.

All rats were marked with specific ear hole combinations composed of complete and semicomplete holes, and their tails were marked with red and black color combinations. In addition, every cage was labeled with a specific symbol assigned to a certain animal diet group, and the food was colored according to the diet, allowing a definite identification and an accurate administration of the pellets. Animals were placed in an air-conditioned room where an automatic timer simulated a 12 hour to 12 hour day and night cycle. Humidity and temperature were regulated at a constant 52 ± 10 % and 22 ± 2 °C, respectively. Animals had free access to water and food. The amount ingested was recorded after periodic weighing of the leftover food. The study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of the Saarland.

3 Dietary Intervention

Basis of homocystine, methionine, and control diet was an herbal standard diet (Altromin C1100, Gesellschaft für Tierernährung GmbH, Deutschland) in pellet form. The purified control diet C1100 contained all essential food components in defined quantities. The content of B vitamins and energy were as follow:

Vitamin B₁: 18 mg/kg Vitamin B₂: 12 mg/kg Vitamin B₆: 9 mg/kg Vitamin B₁₂: 0.024 mg/kg Folic acid: 2.904 mg/kg L-methionine: 3.772 g/kg (0.38%) Energy content: 2490 055 kcal/kg

4 Narcotics

The rats were anesthetized with a ketamin-rompun (1:0.24) mixture and dosed with 0.2 ml per 100 mg bodyweight. Rompun (Bayer HealthCare®, Leverkusen, Germany) was available as 2% and Ketamin (Pharmacia®, Erlangen, Germany) as 0.1 % solution. The intraperitoneal injection was administered in supine position and oblique head inclination.

5 Collection of Blood and Tissue Samples

Capillary blood from the retrobulbar venous plexus of the eye was collected before beginning the diet. Venous blood from the right ventricle of the heart was gathered at the end of the dietary intervention under anesthesia. We isolated, sectioned the brain, and prepared the tissue samples for different purposes: measurement of SAH and SAM concentrations, as well as their ratios were determined in brain tissues, measurement of concentrations of phosphorylated Neurofilament H (pNF-H), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), PP2A activity, in addition to protein expression of P-tau protein.

First the rat brain and connecting proximal 2 mm brain stem were removed from the skull.



Photo 2-5 Tools and instruments used, dissection of rat brain, removal from skull, PBS rinsing

Next the brain was rinsed in cooled PBS solution and weighed. Then each brain was immediately dissected with clean tools on a glass plate cooled on ice. The brain stem (S) was separated from the cerebellum, and the later was sectioned in median-sagital plane as shown in Photos 6 and 7.



Photos 3 and 4 Sectioning of the brain

The left (L) and right hemisphere were separated. Sagital and frontal plane sectioning divided the right hemisphere into quarters (R1, R2, R3, and R4). The (R2) of the right hemisphere was then sectioned in a frontal plane (R2WB and R2SH).

Table 8 shows which methods were used and which parameter measured according to the different brain sections.

Method, Parameter	Brain sections	Conservation	Storage
LC-Tandem-MS SAH/SAM	R2SH, S	0.1g brain tissue/ml acetic	Transfer to -80°C
measurement		acid 1M, homogenized,	
		mixed, sonicated on ice 10s	
ELISA pNF-H, TNF-α	R1	Snap frozen in screw	Transfer to -80°C
		eppendorfs on liquid	
		nitrogen	
ELISA PP2A activity, and	R3	Snap frozen in screw	Transfer to -80°C
total PP2A level		eppendorfs on liquid	
		nitrogen	
Immunohistochemistry	L	Immersed in 4%	Room temperature
P-tau		formaldehyde, parafinized	

Table 8

Abbreviations:

R2SH: frontal lateral cortex section, S: brain stem, R1, R3: frontal medial cortex sections, L: left hemisphere

6 SAH and SAM Measurement in Brain Tissue and Plasma

We used a modified stable-isotope dilution liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method described by Kirsch et al (<u>95</u>).

Preparation of brain tissue for SAH and SAM measurement:

The frontal lateral R2SH and brain stem section S were used for SAH and SAM measurement. Tissue samples each weighing approximately 50 mg were immediately treated with cold 1 M acetic acid to a final concentration of 0.1 g tissue/ml (for 50 mg/500 μ l acetic acid). Brain tissue was homogenized on ice in screw eppendorf containers. These homogenates were vortexed and sonicated on ice, five times 10 s each, and then frozen at -80 °C.

Acidified tissue samples were defrosted, mixed, and centrifuged at 879 g for 7 min (Sigma 3K 12 Centrifuge®, West-Germany). Two hundred μ l of the supernatants were then used for SAM/SAH assay. The supernatants were first prepared for solid phase extraction (SPE) for SAM/SAH assay as follows:

Solid Phase extraction (SPE) was performed using a centrifuge 5810 R® (Eppendorf®, Hamburg, Germany) on a constant setting at 8 °C. SPE columns (Varian inc.®) containing phenylboronic acid, which specifically binds cis-diol groups at a pH of 7-8 were preconditioned by addition of 5 x 1 ml of mobile phase (4.24 M acetic acid, pH 2.636) and 5 x 1 ml of wash buffer (20 mmol/l ammonium acetate, pH 7.42). Columns were centrifuged after each addition at 500 g for 1 min. Before SPE separation the acidified 200 µl tissue extracts were neutralized with 20 µl of 1 M ammonia to a pH of 7.4-7.5 and were mixed with 50 µl of internal standards (3 µmol/l for ²H3-SAM and 0.8 µmol/l of ¹³C5-SAH) (labeled SAM: Dr. Ehrendorf GmbH®, Augsburg; labeled SAH: VU Medical Center®, Metabolic Laboratory, Amsterdam).





Photo 5-6 Materials, Instruments used for SAH/SAM sample preparation

Calibrators (SAM and SAH), high control, and low control were analyzed in each run. The stock solutions SAM 12.0 μ mol/l and SAH 3.2 μ mol/l were diluted with wash buffer (20 mmol/l ammonium acetate, pH 7.42) to concentrations of 0, 750, 900, 1500, 1800 nmol/l for SAM and 0, 100, 200, 300, and 400 nmol/l for SAH as shown in Table 9. A high control of 1500 nmol/l for SAM, 350 nmol/l for SAH and a low control at 800 nmol/l for SAM, and 150 nmol/l for SAH were run each time to determine the coefficient of variations (CVs). 400 μ l of each calibrator was mixed with 50 μ l of internal standards and 40 μ l wash buffer, the latter added for volume adjustment. The samples were mixed with 20 μ l NH₃ and 220 μ l ammonium acetate for volume adjustment (Table 9).

Calibrator SAM/SAH,	Volume of	Internal standard	20 mmol/l ammonium	1 mmol/l
in nmol/l	calibrator or	3 $\mu mol/l$ $^2H_3\mbox{-}SAM$ and 0.8	acetate (pH 7.42),	ammonia NH3,
and sample	sample, in µl	μ mol/l ¹³ C ₅ -SAH, in μ l	in µl	in µl
1800/400	400	50	40	
1500/300	400	50	40	
750/100	400	50	40	
0	0	50	440	
HC 1500/350	400	50	40	
LC 800/150	400	50	40	
Sample	200	50	220	20

Table 9. SAH and SAM assay in brain tissue supernatants

Abbreviations: HC: high control; LC: low control

The samples and calibrators were then applied to the SPE columns for binding of SAM, SAH, and their corresponding internal standards. Loaded columns were then centrifuged for 2 min at 250 g and then washed twice with 1 ml of the wash buffer, centrifuged for 1 min at 500 g to remove non-specifically bound compounds. SAH and SAM were eluted with 3 x 350 μ l of mobile phase and centrifuged at 250 g for 2 min after each addition. After SPE the eluted samples containing SAH and SAM were either measured directly or stored for later assay with LCMS/MS at -80 °C.

Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometer measurement

Concentrations of SAH and SAM were measured on a Waters® 2795 Alliance HT HPLC System with a Micromass Quattro Micro API Tandem Mass Spectrometer. The mobile phase was aqueous acetic acid (pH 2,636) set to a flow rate of 0.3 ml/min. The samples (20 µl) were injected on SymmetryShield® RP₁₈ Column (3.5 µm, 2.1x100 mm) with a corresponding Guard Column (3.5 µm, 2.1x10 mm) allowing the full injection of the sample into the electrospray injection chamber. Run time was 3 min per analysis. The retention times were 1.99 min for SAH, 1.96 min for ¹³C₅-SAH, 1.01 min for SAM, 0.98 min for ²H₃-SAM. SAM and SAH concentrations were measured by multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) LC-ESI-MS/MS in the positive-ion (ESI+) mode. The optimal conditions in ESI+ mode yielded following transitions: mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) 398.9 \rightarrow 250.2 for SAM, m/z 402.9 \rightarrow 250.2 for ²H₃-SAM. M m/z 385.1 \rightarrow 136.1 for SAH, and m/z 390.1 \rightarrow 136.1 for ¹³C₅-SAH. Concentrations of SAH and SAM were tested in acidified EDTA plasma samples just like in tissue samples (described above) with slight modifications (<u>Table 10</u>).

Calibrator SAM/SAH,	Volume of calibrator	Internal standard	20 mmol/l ammonium	1 mmol/l
in nmol/l	or sample, in µl	3 $\mu mol/l$ $^2H_3\mbox{-}SAM$ and 0.8	acetate (pH 7.42),	ammonia NH ₃ ,
and sample		μ mol/l ¹³ C ₅ -SAH, in μ l	in µl	in µl
200/48	400	50	40	
100/24	400	50	40	
50/12	400	50	40	
25/6	400	50	40	
0	0	50	440	
Pool Plasma	400	50	40	20
EDTA plasma sample	400	50	40	20

Table 10. SAH and SAM assay in EDTA plasma sample, pool plasma: 103 nmol/l SAM, 15.6 nmol/l SAH

Kirsch et al. (95) compared HPLC method with other studies. The determined concentrations of SAM and SAH obtained by Acquity UPLC BEH C18 column are comparable to the results

obtained by SymmetryShield RP18 with correlation coefficients (UPLC–MS/MS vs. HPLC–MS/MS method) of r = 0.96 (SAH) and r = 0.83 (SAM). Mean SAM plasma concentrations (85.5 nmol/L) measured by UPLC–MS/MS method are in between those reported by Gellekink et al. (94.5 nmol/L) and Struys et al. (74.7 nmol/L). SAM plasma concentrations reported by Stabler et al. (109 nmol/L (71–168 nmol/L, 95% CI)) were approximately 22% higher. SAH plasma concentrations (13.3 nmol/L) are comparable with that obtained by Gellekink et al. (12.3 nmol/L), 13% lower than that obtained by Stabler et al. (15 nmol/L (8–26 nmol/L, 95% confidence interval)) and approximately half of the concentration than that reported by Struys et al. (26.2 nmol/L) Precision was evaluated; inter-assay and intra-assay CVs <6 %.

7 ELISA PNF-H, TNF-α, PP2A Activity and Level in Rat Brain Tissue

Preparation of rat brain tissues for ELISA

Brain samples from the frontal medial cortex sections R1 and R3 were collected in screw Eppendorf containers and immediately snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for several minutes and then transferred to -80 °C and stored.

Later the R1 tissue samples were defrosted and homogenized in a buffer containing 4 M urea, 1 mmol/l EDTA, 1 mmol/l EGTA, and 0.2 mmol/l PMSE in 10 mmol/l Tris-HCL at a pH of 7.22. We used approximately 10 mg of wet weight of brain tissue per 1 ml buffer. After homogenization with insulin needles and sonication, the material was centrifuged in microfuge tubes for 5 minutes at top speed in an Eppendorf type centrifuge. We used 2 μ l of homogenized CNS tissue for the ELISA.

We used the sandwich ELISA for pNF-H (Chemicon International®) kit, Enzyme Immunoassay kit for TNF-α (assay designs® Catalog number: 900-086A), sandwich ELISA assay for PP2A activity in cell lysates (DuoSet IC® ELISA) from R&D System®. Total PP2A concentrations also measured using (DuoSet® IC ELISA) from R&D System.

The pNF-H assay system depends on using a 96-well plate coated with chicken polyclonal antibodies generated against pNF-H to capture pNF-H from the sample. Captured pNF-H is detected using pNF-H specific rabbit polyclonal antibodies and a goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase conjugate. After addition of the substrate solution, the amount of pNF-H is determined. The standard curve demonstrates a direct relationship between optical density and pNF-H concentration. The calibration standards for pNF-H were set at 0.12, 0.23, 0.47, 0.94, 1.86, 3.75, 7.5 ng/ml. Sensitivity: 0.0585 ng/ml. Range of Detection: 0.0293 ng/ml to 15

ng/ml. Total protein concentration in tissue extract was measured by using BCA method and pNF-H results were normalized for total protein.

The TNF- α assay depends on using wells coated with a monoclonal antibody that binds rat TNF- α in the samples. A solution of biotinylated polyclonal antibody is added and binds to rat TNF- α . A solution of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugate is added which binds to the rat TNF- α polyclonal. Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate solution is added. The substrate generates a blue color when catalyzed by HRP. Stop solution is added, and the resulting color is red at 450 nm. The standard curve demonstrates a direct relationship between optical density and TNF- α concentration. The calibration standards for TNF- α were 25, 31.3, 50, 62.5, 100, 125, and 250 pg/ml. Specificity: There was no significant cross reactivity. Sensitivity was determined to be 12.0 pg/ml in Assay Buffer 28. Inter-assay and intra-assay precision both had CVs <12%.

The activity of PP2A was measured in brain frontal cortex samples using sandwich ELISA assay for rat PP2A activity in cell lysates (DuoSet IC ELISA) from R&D System®. For this assay, R3 brain sections were extracted by using 50 mmol/l HEPES, 0.1 mmol/l EGTA, 0.1 mmol/l EDTA, 120 mmol/l NaCl, 0.5% NP-40 (pH 7.5), 25 μ g/ml Leupeptin, 25 μ g/ml Pepstatin, 2 μ g/ml Aprotinin, 1 mmol/l PMSF. An immobilized capture antibody specific for the catalytic subunit C of PP2A binds both active and inactive PP2A. After washing out unbound material a synthetic phosphopeptide substrate is added. The phosphate release in the brain extract was then proportional to the active PP2A. This substrate is then dephosphorylated by active PP2A enabling the generation of free phosphate and unphosphorylated peptide. The free phosphate then is detected by a sensitive dye-binding assay using malachite green and molybdic acid. By calculating the rate of phosphate release, the activity of PP2A is determined and normalized to total protein content in the extract. The Duoset IC activity is specific for PP2A antibody supplied in the assay kit.

Total PP2A concentrations were also measured in brain homogenesates using (DuoSet® IC ELISA) from R&D System. The assay depends on using an immobilized capture antibody specific for the catalytic subunit of PP2A. After washing the unbound material, a biotinylated detection antibody specific for PP2A is used. The detection is completed using a standard Steptavidin-HRP system.

8 Biochemical Blood Analysis

We analyzed concentrations of SAH, SAM, tHcy, folate, vitamin B_{12} , and B_6 in the rats' plasma samples in the control and interventionary diets. The first sample was collected by extracting capillary blood from the retrobulbar venous plexus of the eye. The second sample was extracted by collecting venous blood from the right ventricle of the heart under anesthesia.

9 Plasma SAH, SAM measurement

Plasma SAH and SAM were selectively measured with our modified version of stable-isotope dilution liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry method described above in section 5.2.

10 Total Plasma Homocysteine Measurement

Concentrations of tHcy were measured by enzymatic Fluorescence-Polarization-Immunoassay (FPIA) on an AxSYM® analysis device (Abbott®, Wiesbaden, Deutschland). This is a method used for routine use and suitable for laboratories requiring HCY high-output testing capabilities. The analytical performance of the AxSYM® tHcy FPIA has been compared to the well established high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and IMx® tHcy FPIA methods and the two methods have corresponding mean differences. The method has been validated and compared to HPLC assay (107) and showed a correlation coefficient of r=0.985. Inter-assay and intra-assay precision both had CVs <5% according to protocol of National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards.

11 Folate Measurement

Folate was measured by competitive Chemilluminescence immunoassay on a Centaur® analysis device (Bayer Diagnostics®, Fernwald, Germany). To release folate bound to endogenous proteins, the sample is pretreated with a deliberation reagent. The folate in the sample competes with acridinium-marked folate in the reagent for a limited number of folate-binding proteins covalently bound to paramagnetic particles. Finally these paramagnetic particles are washed and treated with a reagent leading to a Chemilluminescence reaction producing light. The intensity of this light reaction is inversely proportional to the folate concentration in the sample. The test used has been compared to the alternative method using chemilluminescence and showed a correlation coefficient of r=0.941. Traceability is

guaranteed by calibration to an internal standard which was produced by using highly purified N-5-methyltetrahydrofolate. Inter-assay and intra-assay precision both had CVs <8%.

12 Vitamin B₁₂ Measurement

Vitamin B_{12} was measured by competitive Chemilluminescence immunoassay on a Centaur® analysis device (Bayer Diagnostics®, Fernwald, Germany). To release vitamin B_{12} bound to transcobalamins, the sample is pretreated with sodium hydroxide and dithiotrilae (DTT). The vitamin B_{12} in the sample competes with acridinium-marked vitamin B_{12} in the reagent for a limited amount of intrinsic factor covalently bound to paramagnetic particles. Finally these paramagnetic particles are washed. A starter reagent is added thereby activating the chemilluminescence reaction. The detected relative light units are inversely proportional to the concentration of vitamin B_{12} . The test used has been compared to the alternative method using ADS:180 VB12-test and showed a correlation coefficient of r=0.99. Traceability is guaranteed by calibration to an internal standard which was produced using material of the United States Pharmacopeia (USP). Inter-assay and intra-assay precision both had CVs <5%.

13 Vitamin B₆ (Pyridoxal-5'-Phosphate) Measurement

Vitamin B_6 was measured in the plasma on the Gynkotek® HPLC with an appropriate kit (Immundiagnostik®). The compositions of the flow agent, derivatisation, and precipitation reagent were not disclosed by Immundiagnostik. The HPLC method is isocratic (constant composition of the mobile phase). A fluorescence detector was used to detect the signal. Intraassay and inter-assay CVs were <4.1%.

14 Immunohistochemistry

We isolated and sectioned the brain, as described above in 5. The left hemisphere was fixed in 4% formalin. Then three parts of tissue (A, B, C) sectioned by transversal plane were embedded in paraffin. We chose the middle section B for our assay. To mount samples onto slides, silanization was necessary. In order to do this, slides were placed in acetone for 1 min, next in 2% silane in acetone (3-aminopropyl) triethoxysilane (Sigma® A-3648) for 1 min, dipped in acetone for 10 s and then dH₂O for 10 s. The slides were dried overnight at 37 °C.

We sectioned the middle section of the left hemisphere in transversal plane in slices of 5 μ m thickness. The samples were floated atop a water bath to be rolled out and teased apart, always maintaining the same direction. Then the slices were transferred to a warm water bath

(50-55 °C) to smooth and stretch out the sample before floating the section onto the slide treated with silane. Slides then were dried in an oven at 60 °C overnight. For deparafinisation we first incubated the slides in two cuvettes filled with Xylene (Fluka® Cat NR 95692) five minutes each. Next the slides were moved into two cuvettes of 100 % Ethanol abs (Hedinger®) 3 min each. Slides were then incubated in 96 % Ethanol (2 min), 70 % Ethanol (2 min), 50 % Ethanol, dH₂O (at least 30 s) and in PBS (10 min at room temperature), making sure not to dry out slides between transfers.

The slides were incubated for 3 min in 1 mmol/l pH 6.0 citrate buffer in a plastic cuvette at 560 W in a microwave accompanied by a plastic cuvette of dH_2O to minimize evaporation. Incubation in microwave was repeated 7 times.

For immunohistochemical stain we blocked unspecific bonds with 5% BSA in PBS for 30 min. Then the slide was dried around the mounted sample, and a circle was carefully drawn with a paraffin marker. The samples were incubated with the first antibody (Mouse Anti Phospho Tau (ser396) 1:500 PBS (Invitrogen® Cat NR 355300) in a closed box lined with damp paper towels overnight at 4 °C. Next the slides were rinsed in PBS, and then washed 3 times for 5 minutes each in a cuvette of PBS. Then samples were incubated with second antibody Alexa flour 488 goat anti mouse IgG 1:500 PBS (Invitrogen® Cat NR A-11001) for 1 hour in the dark. The slides were washed again in PBS 3 times for 5 min. In the last step we trickled a drop of Mowiol on the slide, placed a cover glass on top, and let them dry overnight in the dark at room temperature. The fluorescence intensity in 4 independent photos from each section were calculated using AxioVision® program from Carl Zeiss®, and the mean of the intensities was considered for this section of a corresponding animal.

15 Reagents, Materials, and Instruments

Reagent	Company	Catalog Number
Herbal standard diet	Tierernährung GmbH, Deutschland	Altromin C1100
Ketamin (0.1% solution)	Pharmacia®, Erlangen, Germany	
Rompun (2% solution)	Bayer HealthCare®,	
	Leverkusen, Germany	
Acetic Acid	Aldrich®	338826
Ammonium acetate	Biosolve®	01244156
Ammonia	Merck®	1-05432.2500
¹³ C ₅ -SAH	VU Medical Center®,	
	Metabolic Laboratory, Amsterdam	
² H ₃ -SAM	Dr. Ehrendorf GmbH, Augsburg	
Urea	Sigma®	U-6504
EDTA	Merck®	1.08418
(ethylenedinitrilotetraacetic acid disodium salt dehydrate)		
EGTA (ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid)	Sigma®	095K5447
PMSE (phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride)	Sigma®	P-7626
Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane	Merck®	1.08382.1000
Liquid nitrogen	Air liquide®, Oberhausen	
Enzyme immunoassay kit for tumor necrosis factor alpha	Assay designs®	900-086A
(TNF-α)		
Phosphorylated neurofilament H	Chemicon International®	NS170
(PNF-H) kit		
DuoSet IC® ELISA kit (PP2A activity)	R&D System®	
DuoSet IC® ELISA kit (total PP2A concentration)	R&D System®	
Dulbecco's® Phosphate Buffered Saline (x1)	PAA Laboratories®	H21-002
Formalin	Fischar®	26053025
Acetone	Hedinger®	
Silane (3-Aminopropyltriethoxysilane)	Sigma®	A-3648
Xylene	Fluka®	Cat NR 95692
Ethanol abs	Hedinger®	
1 mmol/l ph 6.0 Citrate Buffer	Fluka®	82568
BSA	Sigma®	A 7906-100G
Paraffin marker	Dako®	S 200230-2
Mouse Anti Phospho Tau (ser396)	Invitrogen®	Cat NR 355300
Mouse APP (anti Alzheimer precursor protein A4)	Chemicon®	Bat NR MAB348
Polyclonal Rabbit Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulin/ HRP	DakoCytomation®	P0161
2nd antibody (Alexa flour® 488 goat anti mouse IgG)	Invitrogen®	Cat NR A-11001
Mowiol	Calbiochem®	9002-89-5

Instruments and Materials	Company	Manufactured in
Vortex VF 2	Janke und Kunkel GmbH	
Sonicator 12	Bransonic®	
3K 12 Centrifuge	Sigma®	
5810 R Centrifuge	Eppendorf®	Hamburg, Germany
Solid phase extraction columns containing phenylboronic acid	Varian inc®	
HT 2795 HPLC System with a Micromass Quattro Micro API Tandem	Waters®	
Mass Spectrometer		
Equilibrated (mobile phase) SymmetryShield® RP18 Column	Waters®	
(3.5 µm, 2.1x100mm)		
Guard Column (3.5 µm, 2.1 x 10mm)	Waters®	
Spectrometer Polarstar Optima®	BMG Labtech®	
Microwave	Panasonic®	
Microscope Axiovert® 40CFL	Zeiss®	
ELISA Optical Densitometry	Fluostar Optima®	
Immunofluorescence Densitometry	Axio Vision® 4.4	

16 Statistics

Data analyses were performed by using SPSS Version 18.0 (SPSS®, Chicago, USA). Results are shown as geometric mean (SD). Continuous variables were compared between the 3 dietary groups using ANOVA test followed by Tamhane-T test when ANOVA was significant. Simple correlations between different parameters were tested using Spearman test. All p values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

V Results

1 Main Characteristics and Blood Markers Assayed in Plasma and Brain

Main characteristics and blood markers in study animals at start are shown in Table 11. All 3 group sizes were comparable. The control group consisted of 18 rats, homocystine group of 19, and the methionine group was made up of 18 rats. All animals had a comparable starting body weight with a mean of 202 g. Folate concentration before dietary intervention was 277.4 nmol/l (SD=61.1) for homocystine, 254.3 nmol/l (50.3) for methionine, and 311.7 nmol/l (48.3) for the control diet. Vitamin B_{12} concentration was 784.9 pmol/l (239.4) for homocystine, 1013.7 pmol/l (220.4) for methionine compared to 649.7 pmol/l (173.5) for the control diet. Before randomization, the methionine group had significantly lower folate and higher plasma concentrations of vitamin B₁₂ compared to the control group. However, plasma concentrations of tHcy were only slightly lower than the control group (mean 7.0 versus 8.8 µmol/l; p=0.054) allowing this finding to be interpreted as coincidental. The concentrations of tHcy at start were not correlated to those of vitamin B₁₂ or folate. Furthermore, concentrations of plasma folate and vitamin B₁₂ in rats were negatively related before randomization (R=-0.49, p=0.001). These unexpected correlations between folate and vitamin B_{12} might be related to differences in the content of the mother's diet (before birth) or the rat's diet shortly after birth.

	Control (n=18)	Homocystine (n=19)	Methionine (n=19)	р
Rat weight, in g	202.9 (9.3)	202.0 (9.6)	202.2 (8.1)	0.949
Plasma tHcy, in µmol/l	8.8 (2.7)	7.2 (2.1)	7.0 (1.8)*	0.039
Plasma folate, in nmol/l	311.7 (48.3)	277.4 (61.1)	254.3 (50.3)**	0.032
Vitamin B ₁₂ , in pmol/l	649.7 (173.5)	784.9 (239.4)	1013.7 (220.4)***	<0.001

Table 11. Main characteristics and blood markers of study animals before dietary intervention

Data are geometric mean (standard deviation). *p=0.054 compared to control, **p=0.028 compared to control, and ***p<0.001 compared to control and homocystine groups. ANOVA followed by post-hoc Bonferroni test were applied.

Table 12 demonstrates the main characteristics and blood markers of study animals after dietary intervention according to diet. At the end of the 5 month dietary intervention, the rats from the homocystine group showed a significantly lower body weight mean (SD) 321.4 g (25.6), as did the animals from the methionine group 280.8 g (25.1) in comparison to the rats from the control diet 364.0 g (42.3). The weight of the brain after dietary intervention did not vary between the three groups 2.05 g (0.96) for the control group, 2.04 g (0.97) for the homocystine group, and 2.04 g (0.65) for the methionine group. Concentrations of tHcy were significantly increased after homocystine and methionine enriched diets over 5 months in comparison to the control diet. They caused a more than 10-fold increase in tHcy for homocystine diet and more than 15-fold increase for methionine diet.

Moreover, homocystine and methionine enriched diets both showed a significant increase (p<0.05) for SAH and SAM and a significant reduction (p<0.05) of SAM/SAH ratio concentrations in the frontal cortex and brain stem as well as the plasma compared to concentrations found in the control rats. Effects in cerebral tissue are also shown in Figure 7. Surprisingly, though the dietary intervention was not vitamin deficient, the addition of homocystine and methionine for 5 months induced a higher folate turnover with lower folate plasma concentrations 192.6 nmol/1 (34.9) for homocystine diet and 203.7 nmol/1 (29.8) for methionine diet, compared to the control diet 222.5 nmol/1 (41.8), as well as a significant reduction of vitamin B_{12} plasma concentration 492.6 pmol/1 (64.8) for homocystine diet, 459.5 pmol/1 (69.9) for the methionine diet in comparison to 591.5 pmol/1 (98.6) for control diet.

Animals receiving the hyperhomocysteinemic diets showed a reduction in plasma vitamin B_{12} concentrations compared to the control animals. The median difference between pre and post treatment of vitamin B_{12} was 75 pmol/l in the control, 218 pmol/l in the homocystine, and 620 pmol/l in the methionine group. Plasma folate medians were lowered by 96 nmol/l in the control, 101 nmol/l in the homocystine, and 36 nmol/l in the methionine group when compared to baseline concentrations prior to dietary intervention.

	Control Homocystine		Methionine	Methionine p _{C-Hcy}		p Met-Hcy
	diet	diet	diet			
Rat weight, in g	364.0 (42.3)	321.4 (25.6)	280.8 (25.1)	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Rat weight difference, in g	158.6 (40.1)	117.9 (24.0)	76.9 (20.9)	9) <0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Brain weight, in g	2.05 (0.96)	2.04 (0.97)	2.04 (0.65)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
Plasma tHcy, in µmol/l	7.0 (2.5)	74.4 (26.6)	112.9 (40.3)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.088
Plasma folate, in nmol/l	222.5 (41.8)	192.6 (34.9)	203.7 (29.8)	< 0.05	>0.05	n.s.
Plasma vitamin B _{12,} in pmol/l	591.5 (98.6)	492.6 (64.8)	459.5 (69.9)	0.003	< 0.001	0.382
Plasma vitamin B _{6,} in nmol/l	1474.5 (542.7)	1399.4 (452.7)	1264.8 (509.3)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
Plasma SAH, in nmol/l	18.5 (6.9)	172 (85)	494 (199)	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Plasma SAM, in nmol/l	270 (53)	266 (44)	712 (153)	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05
Plasma SAM/SAH ratio	14.6 (2.9)	1.5 (0.8)	1.4 (0.5)	< 0.05	< 0.05	n.s.
Frontal cortex SAH, in nmol/g	2.20 (0.36)	6.32 (1.32)	3.89 (1.85)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.001
Frontal cortex SAM, in nmol/g	23.42 (4.62)	24.80 (3.15)	27.59 (12.7)	0.64	0.27	0.57
Frontal cortex SAM/SAH ratio	10.65 (2.71)	3.92 (0.96)	7.09 (2.2)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
Brain stem SAH, in nmol/g	1.49 (0.56)	5.37 (1.97)	4.3 (3.05)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.46
Brain stem SAM, in nmol/g	21.11 (10.3)	25.05 (3.94)	29.42 (8.78)	0.25	0.035	0.28
Brain stem SAM/SAH ratio	14.2 (2.39)	4.67 (1.47)	6.85 (3.14)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.016

Table 12. Main characteristics and blood markers of study animals after dietary intervention according to
diet (1.7% homocystine diet and 2.4% methionine diet)

All data are geometric mean (standard deviation). P-values: p_{C-Hcy} testing for significance between control diet and homocystine diet, p_{C-Met} between control diet and methionine diet, $p_{Met-Hcy}$ between methionine and homocystine. P according to ANOVA and post-hoc Tamhane-T test. The abbreviation n.s. stands for not significant.

2 Effect of Diets on Total Plasma Homocysteine in Rats

Concentrations of tHcy were significantly increased after homocystine (n=19) and methionine (n=18) enriched diets over 5 months in comparison to the control diet (n=18). They caused more than a 10-fold increase in tHcy for homocystine and more than 15-fold increase for methionine diet. The medians were 86.2 μ mol/l for the homocystine diet group, 129.8 μ mol/l for the methionine group, and 6.8 μ mol/l for the control group (Figure 6).



Figure 6

Median (75th-25th percentile) plasma tHcy in rats according to diet after 5 months of dietary intervention. *p<0.05 compared to controls (Mann-Whitney Test).

3 Effect of Diet on SAH, SAM, and SAM/SAH Ratio in Two Brain Regions

Figure 7 shows median ($75^{\text{th}}-25^{\text{th}}$) percentiles of SAM, SAH, and their ratio in brain frontal cortex and brain stem according to the type of diet. Homocystine (n=19) and methionine (n=18) enriched diets showed a significant increase in SAH (p<0.05) and a significant reduction (p<0.05) of SAM/SAH ratio concentrations in brain stem and cortex compared to concentrations found in the corresponding brain area of the control rats (n=18). Median concentrations of SAH were 2.2 nmol/g for control group, 6.6 nmol/g for homocystine group, and 4.1 nmol/g for methionine group in the cortex. Median concentrations of SAH were 1.5 nmol/g for control group, 5.4 nmol/g for homocystine group, and 4.3 nmol/g for methionine group in the brain stem. In the cortex median concentrations of SAM were 24.4 nmol/g for homocystine, 27.8 nmol/g for methionine, and 22.7 nmol/g for control. In the brain stem there was a significant increase (p<0.05) 25.5 nmol/g for homocystine diet, 33.7 nmol/g for methionine diet, and 21.2 nmol/g for control diet (Figure 7).

Median SAM/SAH ratio was 10.2 for control rats, 4.0 for homocystine group, and 7.7 for methionine group in the cortex. SAM/SAH ratio was 13.9 for control rats, 6.5 for homocystine group, and 4.7 for methionine diet in the brain stem.

In the control and the homocystine fed animals, samples of brain stem showed lower concentrations of SAH compared to brain cortex. However comparable concentrations of SAM between the cortex and brain stem caused higher SAM/SAH ratio in the brain stem compared to the brain cortex. In contrast, in the methionine fed animals there were no significant differences in SAH, SAM, or their ratio between the frontal cortex and brain stem.



Figure 7

Concentrations of SAH (A), SAM (B), and their ratio (C) per gram of rat brain tissue according to the type of diet. All data are median (75^{th-}25th percentile), (*) p<0.05 compared to control group, (**) p<0.05 compared to homocystine and to control group. \square frontal cortex, \square brain stem.

4 Plasma Folate and Vitamin B₁₂ and Association with Methylation Index

As shown in Figure 8 plasma folate is positively correlated to methylation potential in the brain stem (Spearman correlation coefficient R=0.30, p=0.025) and the frontal cortex (R=0.36, p=0.007). In Figure 9 Plasma vitamin B_{12} is positively correlated to methylation potential reflected by SAM/SAH ratio in the brain stem (R=0.44, p=0.001) and the frontal cortex (R=0.37, p=0.006).



Figure 8

Correlation between plasma folate and SAM/SAH ratio after dietary intervention (Spearman test). Total number of rats analyzed=55; O (circles); dotted line: frontal cortex, \Box (squares); continuous line: brain stem.



Figure 9

Correlation between plasma vitamin B12 and SAM/SAH ratio after dietary intervention; Spearman test. Total number of rats analyzed=55; O (circles); dotted line: frontal cortex, □ (squares); continuous line: brain stem.

5 Experimental Hyperhomocysteinemia and P-tau in Rat Brains

We examined P-tau accumulation in frontal cortex from a total of 21 rats (9 controls, 6 methionine, and 6 homocystine). The median optical density measured in pixel in the frontal cortex of the left hemisphere probed with antibody against P-tau phosphorylated at serine 396 and then with a secondary antibody labeled with Alexa fluor[®] 488 was significantly (p<0.05) increased in rats receiving methionine (n=6) and homocystine (n=6) enriched diets over 5 months in comparison to the control group (n=9) (Figure 10) (Photos 12-17). The methionine and homocystine-fed animals did not differ in P-tau(ser396) staining. We used Axio Vision[®] Rel 4.4 Carl Zeiss[®] computerized image analysis system.



Figure 10

Optical density of P-tau immunofluorescence in brain tissue in pixel. Primary antibody was P-tau phosphorylated at serine 396. Measured with Axio Vision® Rel 4.4 Carl Zeiss®. * p<0.001 in comparison to control diet (ANOVA and Bonferroni tests).



Photos 12-17

Representative sections in control diet group, homocystine, and methionine group in rat brain frontal cortex, left hemisphere. Fluorescence detection using P-tau at serine 396 and Alexa flour®, Axio Vision® Rel 4.4 Carl Zeiss® in all photos.

6 P-tau in Relation to Total Plasma Homocysteine and Plasma Folate

Figure 11 shows the correlations between concentrations of plasma folate and tHcy and optical density in brain sections probed with antibody against P-tau phosphorylated at serine 396 measured in pixel using Axio Vision® Rel 4.4 Carl Zeiss®. The staining of P-tau (quantitative optical density) correlated strongly and positively to plasma levels of tHcy (R= 0.68, p=0.001, n=21) and negatively to plasma folate (R=-0.567, p=0.007, n=21). The correlations remained significant after adjusting for baseline metabolic markers (P-tau with tHcy R=0.68; and with folate R=- 0.76; p<0.01). Accumulation of P-tau in rat brain did not correlate to plasma concentrations of vitamin B₆ or vitamin B₁₂.





Correlation between optical density (pixel) obtained from immunofluorescence microscope images of brain sections probed with antibody against P-tau (y-Axis), and plasma tHcy (R=0.68, p=0.001, n=21) on the left and plasma folate (R=-0.567, p=0.007, n=21) on the right.

7 TNF- α , a Marker for Inflammatory Reaction

The hyperhomocysteinemic diets had no significant effect on concentrations of TNF- α extracted from the brain tissue (<u>Figure 12</u>). This indicates the diet did not induce an inflammatory reaction in brain tissues.



Figure 12

Medians $(75^{\text{th}}-25^{\text{th}})$ percentiles of TNF- α in rat brain frontal cortex according to the diet. No significant differences in concentrations were found between the rats according to the diet. The study included 55 rats. Concentrations were not adjusted for total protein in the extracted tissues and measured by Enzyme Immunoassay kit for TNF- α (assay designs®).

8 PP2A Activity and Level in Extracts of Frontal Cortex

We further studied the link between the metabolic conditions associated with HHCY and PP2A activity and/or level of PP2A protein in brain samples. Therefore, we tested the activity of the catalytic subunit of PP2A extracted from frontal cortex samples. Data on immunostaining for P-tau was available from 21 animals. Neither the activity of the active PP2A (the catalytic methylated subunit) when corrected for protein level nor the protein level itself of the catalytic subunit of PP2A differed according to diet (Table 13).

Table 13. PP2A activity, level, and pNF-H of study animals after dietary intervention according to diet (1.7% homocystine diet and 2.4% methionine diet)

	Control	Homocystine	Methionine	р _{С-}	р _{С-}	p _{Met-}
	diet	diet	diet	Нсу	Met	Нсу
PP2A activity, nmol phosphate relase/ng PP2A protein/30 min*	13.6 (6.1)	12.1 (7.0)	12.7 (10.8)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
PP2A protein level, ng/mg protein*	1.24 (0.35)	1.05 (0.34)	1.07 (0.36)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
pNF-H, ng/mg protein*	0.53 (0.3)	0.73 (0.58)	3.47 (12.0)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.

All data are geometric mean (standard deviation). P-values: p_{C-Hcy} testing for significance between control diet and homocystine diet, p_{C-Met} between control diet and methionine diet, $p_{Met-Hcy}$ between methionine and homocystine. P according to ANOVA and post-hoc Tamhane-T test. The abbreviation n.s. stands for not significant. * Marker measured in same extract of frontal cortex.

We did observe a moderate negative correlation between PP2A activity in frontal cortex (expressed as nmol/ μ g protein/30min) and staining of P-tau protein (p=-0.51, p=0.013). Yet no significant correlation was found between PP2A activity of the methylated catalytic subunit when corrected for total catalytic PP2A level and P-tau.

Plasma folate, but not the type of diet or the methylation markers (in tissues or in plasma) was related to PP2A. According to this as demonstrated in Figure 13, we observed a weak positive correlation between PP2A activity of the methylated catalytic subunit corrected for total catalytic PP2A level and total protein and plasma folate (R=0.282, p=0.045, n=51).



Figure 13

PP2A activity in relation to plasma folate (p=0.045) showing weak positive correlation (R=0.282) for n=51; corrected for total PP2A protein and total protein.

9 Phosphorylated Neurofilament H, a Marker of Axonal Degeneration

We found no significant effect of the diet on concentrations of the marker for axonal degeneration, pNF-H, in brain tissues (<u>Figure 14</u>). Adjusting for total protein in the same extract of frontal cortex did not change the results (<u>Table 13</u>).



Figure 14

Medians (75-25th percentile) percentiles of pNF-H in rat brain frontal cortex according to diet. No significant differences in concentrations were found. The study included 55 rats. Concentrations of pNF-H adjusted for total protein in the extracted tissues and measured by ELISA (CHEMICON®).

10 PNF-H in Extracts of Frontal Cortex correlates with Folate

We proposed that lower PP2A activity might be related to increased pNF-H because of the decrease in its dephosphorylation. Figure 15 demonstrates the negative significant correlation between pNF-H from brain extracts and plasma folate for the whole group (R=-0.30, p= 0.031, n=52). When taking into consideration only the animals on the HHCY diets, pNF-H showed an even stronger negative correlation to plasma folate concentration (R=-0.46, p=0.005, n=36). PNF-H showed only a week negative correlation to the activity of the PP2A enzyme in brain tissues after correcting for PP2A protein level (R=-0.27, p=0.052, n=53), but a positive correlation with brain staining for P-tau (R=0.50, p=0.021, n=21).



Figure 15 PNF-H in relation to plasma folate showing negative correlation (R=-0.30; p=0.031).

11 Ratio of P-Tau to PP2A activity in Relation to SAH, tHcy, and Folate

We calculated the ratio of P-tau staining to PP2A activity per ng PP2A protein in the 21 samples for which the immunohistochemistry results were available. Figure 16 shows strong correlations found between this ratio and plasma concentrations of SAH in brain cortex (R=0.53, p=0.019), tHcy (R=0.65, p=0.002), plasma folate (R=-0.63, p=0.003)



- × Control
- ∇ Homocystine
- O Methionine

Figure 16

The correlation between ratio of P-tau staining/PP2A activity per ng PP2A protein and brain cortex SAH, plasma tHcy and plasma folate in 21 rats (9 controls, 6 methionine, 6 homocystine). R is correlation coefficient according to Spearman test.

VI Discussion

In the search for pathomechanisms that lead to neurodegeneration, in particular AD associated molecular abnormalities, much attention has been focused on micronutrients. Retrospective (21;32;33;102;205) as well as prospective clinical studies (46;112;132;146;165;181;212) have linked HHCY to neurodegenerative disease. However, treatment studies until now showed no consistent results, a causal relationship is therefore still outstanding. A possible link between impaired methylation and the etiology of AD has been proposed (169;188). The presumption is that HHCY is linked to neurodegenerative disease by mechanisms including hypomethylation. Vafai and Stock (169;188) were the first who suggested this link between impaired methylation and NFT formation. HHCY is known to cause lowered SAM, increased SAH concentrations, and therefore lowered SAM/SAH ratio. Several observational studies from cerebrospinal fluid and brain tissue of AD patients (91:124:134) support this view. An earlier report from 2007 found a negative association between concentrations or P-tau, folate and the SAH/SAM ratio in the CSF (134). The diet is one important source of methyl donors, therefore dietary recommendations for prevention of dementia could be an attractive approach.

In our study homocystine and methionine diets fed to Wistar rats lead to a plasma tHcy elevation by more than 10-fold. Blood and brain concentrations of SAH and SAM were increased and their ratio lowered in rats fed a HHCY diet. Despite not using a diet deficient in folate or B-vitamins, animals fed with HHCY diets seemed to have higher requirements for folate and vitamin B_{12} . Rats with higher plasma folate and plasma vitamin B_{12} concentrations showed a better methylation status. This was reflected by the positive correlation between plasma folate (R=0.36; p=0.007) (Figure 8) as well as plasma vitamin B_{12} (R=0.37; p=0.006) (Figure 9) and SAM/SAH ratio in two different brain regions. These results suggest that folate and/or vitamin B_{12} might increase availability of methyl groups in the brain.

Our results are in accordance with one study by Sontag et al. $(\underline{172})$ utilizing a folate deficient diet and another study by McCampbell et al. $(\underline{113})$ using a methionine rich diet to generate HHCY in a mouse model. The magnitude of increase in concentrations of plasma tHcy and cerebral tissue SAH which we achieved by HHCY diets hardly differed in comparison. The concentrations of SAH, SAM and SAM/SAH ratio in brain tissue in rats nourished with our

control diet were similar to those on the control diet in the folate deficient mouse model described by Sontag et al. (172)

Homocystine and methionine diets in Wistar rats lead to a plasma tHcy elevation by more than 10-fold and depletion of folate and vitamin B_{12} . Both approaches leading to HHCY induced an impaired methylation status and folate depletion reflected by low SAM/SAH ratio in different brain areas. These animals showed an increased staining for P-tau in the frontal cortex compared to the control diet, and this may well be related to a disturbed methylation index. Our study demonstrated a negative correlation between plasma folate concentration and P-tau staining (R=- 0.76; p<0.01) even after adjusting for baseline metabolic markers.

Vitamin deficient conditions can promote neurodegeneration (44;133;158;172) either via inducing hypomethylation, homocysteine, or a direct effect. For example in neuroblastoma cells, reduced methylation of PP2A (171) and PPMT activity (27) after SAH exposure or in a folate deficient medium (19) were reversible after adding SAM to the medium. PP2A can be demethylated by a methylesterase (PME-1) (136). PME-1 knock-out caused lower demethylation of PP2A but did not reduce cell death caused by folate deficiency (172). This suggests that folate deficiency has a unique mechanism inducing cell death. The negative relationship between folate on the one hand and P-tau or pNF-H on the other hand suggests that folate might protect against neurodegeneration by lowering protein phosphorylation. Our findings suggest that plasma tHcy and folate may be a predictor for the severity and/or progression of the accumulation of P-tau in the brain and higher blood folate might protect the brain from disorders in methyl group metabolism. This assumption is in agreement with the recent clinical study done by Oulhaj et al. in 2010 (138).

In our study, SAH increase was associated with a substantial increase in SAM and a reduction of SAM/SAH ratio. The level and activity of the methylated catalytic subunit of PP2A were not lowered after our dietary intervention, but were negatively related to folate. Methyltransferases are inhibited either by decreased SAM concentrations or by increase of the competitive inhibitor SAH. In neuroblastoma cells adding SAH lowered PP2A methylation, and thereby substrate specificity (<u>171</u>). Moreover, mice fed on a high methionine/low folate diet had higher brain SAH and lower expression of PPMT thus leading to decrease of PP2A (<u>171</u>). Animal studies have shown that decreased methylated PP2A subunit in the brain tissues was associated with tau hyperphosphorylation (<u>172</u>). Clinical studies have been able to support this idea by showing that SAM was reduced in brain tissue and CSF in patients with AD (10;91;124;171). The role of SAM in dephosphorylation of tau suggests a relation

between plasma tHcy or folate and P-tau in the brain. Furthermore, an increase in concentration of SAH in AD patients was associated with lower activities in catechol-O-methyltransferase and phenylethanolamine-N-methyltransferase (91). Other studies on AD brains have shown that the decrease in PP2A activity was related to a lower PP2A methylation and the expression of the regulatory subunit B of the enzyme (169). In addition, brains of patients with AD have shown lowered mRNA for PP2A (196), and elevated SAH suggesting a link between these conditions.

Animals fed the homocystine and methionine diets in our study showed increased staining for P-tau. Our results revealed a positive correlation between plasma tHcy and optical density of P-tau accumulation in frontal cortex of cerebral tissue in rats (R=0.61, p=0.005). Recent in vivo studies are in accordance with our results. The study by Zhang et al. in 2008 (209) showed that high plasma tHcy induced by vena caudalis injection for 2 weeks was able to induce tau hyperphosphorylation at multiple sites in rat brain hippocampus. Folate and vitamin B₁₂ supplementation lowered tHcy and tau phosphorylation in this animal model (209). In our study HHCY did not lead to changes in PP2A-mC activity or protein level of the total catalytic C subunit as listed in Table 13. In 2004 Sontag et al. proposed that the PP2A methylation system could be the link relating elevated plasma tHcy to Alzheimer disease (169). The enzyme PP2A is responsible for dephosphorylation of P-tau. It is likely that SAMdependant PP2A methyltransferase is inhibited by an increase in SAH hence impeding the degradation of P-tau protein. Zhang et al. (209) demonstrated how HCY induces tau phosphorylation by inhibiting the activity of PP2A and also activating methylesterase which stimulates demethylation of PP2A(C). In hippocampal slices of the HCY injected-rats and of the AD patients, the demethylated but not the methylated PP2A(C) was co-localized with the hyperphosphorylated tau. The study by Luo et al. in 2007 (110) investigated the effect of HCY on phosphorylation of tau by injecting HCY into the lateral cerebral ventricle of rats. They found that level of the hyperphosphorylated tau (ser396) was elevated prominently at 6, 9, and 12 h after the injection, and recovered to normal at 24 h. Simultaneously, the level of PP2A catalytic subunit was reduced markedly when compared with control. The recent study by Sontag et al. (172) examined how folate deprivation over 8 weeks effects hyperphosphorylation of tau protein, PP2A enzyme, and the methyltransferase necessary for its activation. The folate deprived diet lead to disturbed methylation potential in cerebral tissue of mice and the involvement of downregulation of the methyltransferase LCMT-1, and consequently the loss of AB α C (dominant brain isoform of protein phosphatase 2A) seems
related to tau phosphorylation and cell death. The authors were able to show that folate deficiency enhanced expression of non-methylated form of PP2A enzyme but was not able to change the methylation status of pre-existing PP2A suggesting that binding of B subunits to the methylated core enzyme stabilize it against demethylation by PME-1 (protein phosphatase methylesterase-1). However one in vitro study by Kuszczyk et al. is in contrast to the assumption that HHCY is a risk-factor for AD in which abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau leads to neurofibrillary degeneration, and showed that acute exposure of primary rat cerebellar granule cell cultures to HCY at millimolar concentrations actually induced a glutamate receptor mediated decrease in tau phosphorylation (100).

Taking into consideration different models that all shared similar metabolic conditions with increased SAH and reduced SAM (<u>19;171</u>) we proposed that the effect on P-tau protein was not directly related to tHcy increase. Our results suggest that the accumulation of P-tau may be linked to elevation of SAH. Although SAH seems to act by binding the active sites of methyltransferases and thereby impeding SAM attachment and thereby inhibiting PP2A, this may be an oversimplification because many more factors seem to be involved.

Recently, McCampbell et al. (<u>113</u>) used a high methionine diet or a folate deficient diet over the course of 10 weeks to induce HHCY. APP mice fed a high methionine diet but not those fed a folate deficient diet showed increased brain total tau and p-tau. No changes in either total or methylated PP2A protein were observed. In accordance with the results by McCampbell at al. we propose that the effect of the diet used in our study on P-tau was not directly related to decreased dephosphorylation of P-tau by PP2A.

In general the accumulation of P-tau might be related to enhanced phosphorylation or decreased dephosphorylation (Figure 17). The interactive regulation of different kinase and phosphatase activities are thought to be a complex cellular process and alterations in PP2A activity are capable of affecting activity of protein kinases leading to changes in copious cellular functions (168). Increased P-tau under HHCY conditions without significant changes affecting PP2A suggests that P-tau accumulation might be related to enhanced formation mediated by augmentation of kinase pathways responsible for the phosphorylation in the brain. The effect of folate deficiency on P-tau-protein may be related to enhanced activity of different kinases involved in tau phosphorylation. The kinases' activity seems to be sensitive to and inducted by calcium influx mediated via HCY-dependant activation of NMDA receptors (19). Another in vitro study (100) treated neurons acutely with HCY at neurotoxic concentrations. To reduce this effect an uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist was used

and a rapid decrease of P-tau staining was reported. This study demonstrates the link between NMDA receptor, a glutamate receptor, and P-tau accumulation.

Hypomethylation seems to enhance abnormal tau phosphorylation by activation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK3beta) in addition to lowering PP2A (<u>129</u>). For example, GSK3beta gene expression and protein levels were increased under vitamin deficient conditions. This is in accordance with our finding on the positive correlation between P-tau and plasma folate and the reverse correlation between P-tau and plasma tHcy.

Ho et al. demonstrated that increased tHcy or decreased folate concentrations in cultured neuron can promote tau phosphorylation (73) possibly mediated through oxidative stress via increased reactive oxygen species. Another explanation for P-tau increase without change in PP2A is protein-N-homocysteinylation that has been found to cause amyloid like protofibrils (139). P-tau might be N-homocysteinylated with HHCY causing PP2A to be unable to bind this substrate. This protein homocysteinylation might be the reason for a modification in substrate affinity of the enzyme. Furthermore, tau protein may be hyperphosphorylated at multiple sites causing the dissociation of this protein and the inability to bind to PP2A (170). The failure of interacting with phosphatases is a main pathomechanism in taupathies (31).



Figure 17

Pathomechanisms affecting the phosphorylation of P-tau and pNF-H: Ca-dependent kinases phosphorylate tau and are enhanced by NMDA receptors, HHCY and SAH, PP2A activity can be enhanced by SAM and inhibited by SAH; Folate has a positive effect on dephosphorylation of P-tau.

PNF-H is an important protein involved in neurodegeneration. The majority of studies in the past have concentrated on hyperphosphorylation of tau as the major cytoskeletal pathology in AD. PNF-H though is also a component of aggregates in the AD brain (<u>177;200</u>).

Our study documented a weak correlation between decreased PP2A activity and increased pNF-H concentrations. In one study, the inhibition of PP2A by ocaidic acid induced an increase in the pNF-H throughout the neuron showing that pNF-H is a substrate for PP2A (53). HHCY was not directly related to pNF-H. In our study however, plasma folate is lowered by supplementation of methionine or homocystine and this was related to increased pNF-H. Folate status seems to be a link to increased pNF-H in cerebral tissue, especially in rats subjected to HHCY diets. One study compared the pNF-H concentrations between AD and control tissues and reported a three-fold increase in pNF-H in AD tissue without increase in total NF-H levels or change in soluble (pin1) levels (140). The pin-1 enzyme may be a mediator for phosphorylation and methylation and thereby play a role in the formation of NFT (140). The pin-1 enzyme, one of the peptidyl-prolyl isomerases catalyzes the isomerisation of the peptide bond in proteins, thereby regulating their biological functions which include protein assembly, folding, intracellular transport, intracellular signalling, transcription, cell cycle progression and apoptosis and protects neurons under in vitro conditions.

The significant reverse association between plasma folate and brain pNF-H levels remains unsolved and calls for further investigation. It has been reported that folate may have a protective effect on glutamate toxicity. If glutamate toxicity can lead to accumulation of pNF-H in neuronal cells (<u>140</u>) this could suggest that a higher folate concentration might be capable of reducing pNF-H by decreasing the stimulation of the glutamate receptor mediated by HCY.

In the current study HHCY and thereby perturbance in methylation was not related to the marker of inflammation TNF- α , in cerebral tissue. TNF- α concentrations measured in rat cerebral tissue were similar when comparing control diet group with homocystine enriched and methionine enriched diet group. This suggests that inflammation does not function as an important neurotoxic modulator in HHCY.

Our study results were in accordance with a study (3) with a small patient collective in which no significant difference in TNF- α concentrations in serum or CSF between AD patients and controls were found. In addition there was also no correlation in either subject group between the concentrations of these inflammatory mediators in serum or CSF, and the change in cognitive status or the progression of the atrophy of the medial temporal lobe. There seems to be regional differences, reflected by concentrations of TNF- α in AD patients being significantly lower in the frontal cortex (32%, p = 0.024), the superior temporal gyrus (57%, p = 0.021), and the entorhinal cortex (49%, p = 0.009) compared with non-AD subjects. The fact that decreased cerebral concentrations of TNF- α are located in areas showing neuropathology in AD may indicate a dysregulation of the inflammatory process in AD. The large overlap between concentrations of TNF- α in AD patients and other subjects does not support the use of inflammatory mediators as predictive parameters for AD, also considering the poor relation to clinical signs of AD.

VII Conclusions

- Homocystine and methionine enriched diets increased plasma tHcy by more than 10fold and effectively induced experimental HHCY in rats.
- Homocystine and methionine diets led to a reduced methylation status reflected by SAH increase and SAM/SAH decrease in two different brain regions (frontal cortex and brain stem).
- Plasma concentrations of folate and vitamin B₁₂ significantly correlated to brain SAM/SAH ratio. Better B-vitamin status is directly related to better brain methylation status.
- Homocystine and methionine diets caused P-tau accumulation both to a similar extent, in frontal cortex of rat brain.
- P-tau accumulation in the frontal cortex is positively correlated to plasma tHcy and negatively correlated to plasma folate concentration.
- P-tau accumulation could not be explained by changes in PP2A activity or PP2A protein level but by folate status.
- Requirements and turnover of methyl groups are different according to brain region and may reflect different regional biochemical pathways.
- Concentrations of pNF-H in frontal cortex did not differ according to diet.
- Folate status was related to increased pNF-H in brain tissues from rats, especially those subjected to HHCY diet.
- Concentrations of TNF-α in frontal cortex did not differ according to diet, so HCY neurotoxicity is not explained by inflammation in our study.

Micronutrient deficiency is often a problem in the elderly population. The role of HHCY and B-vitamin deficiency has been repeatedly demonstrated as a risk factor and prognostic factor for the development of dementia and other neurodegenerative diseases. Hence, enhancing status of methylation is promising when trying to counter metabolic changes related to the development of dementia. The experimental model inducing HHCY cannot be directly extrapolated to human beings without further research. Low serum folate is very common in elderly people and folate supplementation may form an early pathway to protect against dementia. Future studies should test in vivo the role of micronutrients like B-vitamins

especially folate and SAM in preventing or reversing P-tau accumulation in brain and/or the effect on pNF-H. Strategies aiming at arresting or reversing phosphorylation of tau or enhancing its dephosphorylation should consider long-term folate supplementation.

Concentrations of tHcy that we achieved in our study were above the limits usually found in the general population and the exposure time was relatively short. Nevertheless, the development of dementia takes several decades to develop and even mild to moderate disturbances in the methyl group metabolism might be of importance. Future studies also might test the effect of mild or moderate HHCY over longer periods of time on P-tau accumulation and pNF-H.

VIII Reference List

- 1. Alonso A, Zaidi T, Novak M, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K. Hyperphosphorylation induces self-assembly of tau into tangles of paired helical filaments/straight filaments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:6923-8.
- 2. American Psychiatric Association. American Psychiatric Association; Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, 4th edition ed. APA Press, Washington DC, 1994.
- 3. Angelopoulos P, Agouridaki H, Vaiopoulos H, Siskou E, Doutsou K, Costa V, Baloyiannis SI. Cytokines in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Int J Neurosci 2008;118:1659-72.
- 4. Attilakos A, Papakonstantinou E, Schulpis K, Voudris K, Katsarou E, Mastroyianni S, Garoufi A. Early effect of sodium valproate and carbamazepine monotherapy on homocysteine metabolism in children with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 2006;71:229-32.
- 5. Baric I, Fumic K, Glenn B, Cuk M, Schulze A, Finkelstein JD et al. Sadenosylhomocysteine hydrolase deficiency in a human: a genetic disorder of methionine metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:4234-9.
- 6. Baum L, Chen L, Ng HK, Pang CP. Apolipoprotein E isoforms in Alzheimer's disease pathology and etiology. Microsc Res Tech 2000;50:278-81.
- 7. Bender DA. Novel functions of vitamin B6. Proc Nutr Soc 1994;53:625-30.
- 8. Biessels GJ, Staekenborg S, Brunner E, Brayne C, Scheltens P. Risk of dementia in diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol 2006;5:64-74.
- 9. Binder LI, Frankfurter A, Rebhun LI. The distribution of tau in the mammalian central nervous system. J Cell Biol 1985;101:1371-8.
- Bottiglieri T, Godfrey P, Flynn T, Carney MW, Toone BK, Reynolds EH. Cerebrospinal fluid S-adenosylmethionine in depression and dementia: effects of treatment with parenteral and oral S-adenosylmethionine. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1990;53:1096-8.
- 11. Brattstrom L, Israelsson B, Lindgarde F, Hultberg B. Higher total plasma homocysteine in vitamin B12 deficiency than in heterozygosity for homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. Metabolism 1988;37:175-8.
- 12. Brattstrom L, Wilcken DE, Ohrvik J, Brudin L. Common methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene mutation leads to hyperhomocysteinemia but not to vascular disease: the result of a meta-analysis. Circulation 1998;98:2520-6.

- 13. Bryan J, Calvaresi E, Hughes D. Short-term folate, vitamin B-12 or vitamin B-6 supplementation slightly affects memory performance but not mood in women of various ages. J Nutr 2002;132:1345-56.
- 14. Bunce D, Kivipelto M, Wahlin A. Apolipoprotein E, B vitamins, and cognitive function in older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2005;60:41-8.
- 15. Carlsen SM, Folling I, Grill V, Bjerve KS, Schneede J, Refsum H. Metformin increases total serum homocysteine levels in non-diabetic male patients with coronary heart disease. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1997;57:521-7.
- 16. Carmel R, Jacobsen DW. Homocystein in health an disease. Cambridge: University Press, 2001.
- 17. CARSON NA, Neill DW. Metabolic abnormalities detected in a survey of mentally backward individuals in Northern Ireland. Arch Dis Child 1962;37:505-13.
- 18. Cattaneo M. Does tamoxifen enhance endothelial function by lowering the plasma levels of homocysteine? Circulation 2001;104:E146-E147.
- 19. Chan AY, Alsaraby A, Shea TB. Folate deprivation increases tau phosphorylation by homocysteine-induced calcium influx and by inhibition of phosphatase activity: Alleviation by S-adenosyl methionine. Brain Res 2008;1199:133-7.
- 20. Chasan-Taber L, Selhub J, Rosenberg IH, Malinow MR, Terry P, Tishler PV et al. A prospective study of folate and vitamin B6 and risk of myocardial infarction in US physicians. J Am Coll Nutr 1996;15:136-43.
- 21. Clark MS, Guthrie JR, Dennerstein L. Hyperhomocysteinemia is associated with lower performance on memory tasks in post-menopausal women. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2005;20:57-62.
- 22. Clarke R, Grimley EJ, Schneede J, Nexo E, Bates C, Fletcher A et al. Vitamin B12 and folate deficiency in later life. Age Ageing 2004;33:34-41.
- 23. Clarke R, Smith AD, Jobst KA, Refsum H, Sutton L, Ueland PM. Folate, vitamin B12, and serum total homocysteine levels in confirmed Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 1998;55:1449-55.
- 24. Corrada MM, Kawas CH, Hallfrisch J, Muller D, Brookmeyer R. Reduced risk of Alzheimer's disease with high folate intake: the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Alzheimers Dement 2005;1:11-8.
- 25. Craig MC, Maki PM, Murphy DG. The Women's Health Initiative Memory Study: findings and implications for treatment. Lancet Neurol 2005;4:190-4.
- 26. Danishpajooh IO, Gudi T, Chen Y, Kharitonov VG, Sharma VS, Boss GR. Nitric oxide inhibits methionine synthase activity in vivo and disrupts carbon flow through the folate pathway. J Biol Chem 2001;276:27296-303.
- 27. De B, I, Derua R, Janssens V, Van HC, Waelkens E, Merlevede W, Goris J. Purification of porcine brain protein phosphatase 2A leucine carboxyl

methyltransferase and cloning of the human homologue. Biochemistry 1999;38:16539-47.

- 28. Defranceso M, Schocke M, Messner HJ, Deisenhammer EA, Hinterhuber H, Marksteiner J, Weiss EM. [Conversion from MCI (Mild Cognitive Impairment) to Alzheimer's disease: diagnostic options and predictors]. Neuropsychiatr 2010;24:88-98.
- 29. Durand P, Prost M, Loreau N, Lussier-Cacan S, Blache D. Impaired homocysteine metabolism and atherothrombotic disease. Lab Invest 2001;81:645-72.
- 30. Durga J, van Boxtel MP, Schouten EG, Kok FJ, Jolles J, Katan MB, Verhoef P. Effect of 3-year folic acid supplementation on cognitive function in older adults in the FACIT trial: a randomised, double blind, controlled trial. Lancet 2007;369:208-16.
- 31. Eidenmuller J, Fath T, Hellwig A, Reed J, Sontag E, Brandt R. Structural and functional implications of tau hyperphosphorylation: information from phosphorylation-mimicking mutated tau proteins. Biochemistry 2000;39:13166-75.
- 32. Elias MF, Robbins MA, Budge MM, Elias PK, Brennan SL, Johnston C et al. Homocysteine, folate, and vitamins B6 and B12 blood levels in relation to cognitive performance: the Maine-Syracuse study. Psychosom Med 2006;68:547-54.
- 33. Elias MF, Sullivan LM, D'Agostino RB, Elias PK, Jacques PF, Selhub J et al. Homocysteine and cognitive performance in the Framingham offspring study: age is important. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162:644-53.
- 34. Engelhart MJ, Geerlings MI, Meijer J, Kiliaan A, Ruitenberg A, van Swieten JC et al. Inflammatory proteins in plasma and the risk of dementia: the rotterdam study. Arch Neurol 2004;61:668-72.
- 35. Engelhart MJ, Ruitenberg A, Meijer J, Kiliaan A, van Swieten JC, Hofman A et al. Plasma levels of antioxidants are not associated with Alzheimer's disease or cognitive decline. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2005;19:134-9.
- Eussen SJ, de Groot LC, Joosten LW, Bloo RJ, Clarke R, Ueland PM et al. Effect of oral vitamin B-12 with or without folic acid on cognitive function in older people with mild vitamin B-12 deficiency: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:361-70.
- Ferreira A, Lu Q, Orecchio L, Kosik KS. Selective phosphorylation of adult tau isoforms in mature hippocampal neurons exposed to fibrillar A beta. Mol Cell Neurosci 1997;9:220-34.
- 38. Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M et al. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. Lancet 2005;366:2112-7.
- 39. Finkelstein JD. Pathways and regulation of homocysteine metabolism in mammals. Semin Thromb Hemost 2000;26:219-25.

- 40. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975;12:189-98.
- 41. Formichi P, Parnetti L, Radi E, Cevenini G, Dotti MT, Federico A. CSF levels of betaamyloid 1-42, tau and phosphorylated tau protein in CADASIL. Eur J Neurol 2008;15:1252-5.
- 42. Fratiglioni L, Launer LJ, Andersen K, Breteler MM, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF et al. Incidence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: A collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. Neurology 2000;54:S10-S15.
- 43. Fratiglioni L, Paillard-Borg S, Winblad B. An active and socially integrated lifestyle in late life might protect against dementia. Lancet Neurol 2004;3:343-53.
- 44. Fuso A, Seminara L, Cavallaro RA, D'Anselmi F, Scarpa S. Sadenosylmethionine/homocysteine cycle alterations modify DNA methylation status with consequent deregulation of PS1 and BACE and beta-amyloid production. Mol Cell Neurosci 2005;28:195-204.
- 45. Gamble MV, Ahsan H, Liu X, Factor-Litvak P, Ilievski V, Slavkovich V et al. Folate and cobalamin deficiencies and hyperhomocysteinemia in Bangladesh. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;81:1372-7.
- 46. Garcia A, Haron Y, Pulman K, Hua L, Freedman M. Increases in homocysteine are related to worsening of stroop scores in healthy elderly persons: a prospective follow-up study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004;59:1323-7.
- 47. Garcia A, Zanibbi K. Homocysteine and cognitive function in elderly people. CMAJ 2004;171:897-904.
- 48. Garg R, Malinow M, Pettinger M, Upson B, Hunninghake D. Niacin treatment increases plasma homocyst(e)ine levels. Am Heart J 1999;138:1082-7.
- 49. Gerritson T, Vaughn JG, Waisman HA. The identification of homocystine in the urine. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1962;9:493-6.
- 50. Gharib A, Chabannes B, Sarda N, Pacheco H. In vivo elevation of mouse brain Sadenosyl-L-homocysteine after treatment with L-homocysteine. J Neurochem 1983;40:1110-2.
- 51. Gibson JB, CARSON NA, Neill DW. PATHOLOGICAL FINDINGS IN HOMOCYSTINURIA. J Clin Pathol 1964;17:427-37.:427-37.
- 52. Glenner GG, Wong CW, Quaranta V, Eanes ED. The amyloid deposits in Alzheimer's disease: their nature and pathogenesis. Appl Pathol 1984;2:357-69.
- 53. Gong CX, Wang JZ, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I. Inhibition of protein phosphatase 2A induces phosphorylation and accumulation of neurofilaments in metabolically active rat brain slices. Neurosci Lett 2003;340:107-10.

- 54. Goodwin JS, Goodwin JM, Garry PJ. Association between nutritional status and cognitive functioning in a healthy elderly population. JAMA 1983;249:2917-21.
- 55. Green R, Miller JW. Vitamin B12 deficiency is the dominant nutritional cause of hyperhomocysteinemia in a folic acid-fortified population. Clin Chem Lab Med 2005;43:1048-51.
- 56. Green RC, Cupples LA, Kurz A, Auerbach S, Go R, Sadovnick D et al. Depression as a risk factor for Alzheimer disease: the MIRAGE Study. Arch Neurol 2003;60:753-9.
- Grieco AJ. Homocystinuria: pathogenetic mechanisms. Am J Med Sci 1977;273:120-32.
- 58. Grieve A, Butcher SP, Griffiths R. Synaptosomal plasma membrane transport of excitatory sulphur amino acid transmitter candidates: kinetic characterisation and analysis of carrier specificity. J Neurosci Res 1992;32:60-8.
- 59. Grubben MJ, Boers GH, Blom HJ, Broekhuizen R, de JR, van RL et al. Unfiltered coffee increases plasma homocysteine concentrations in healthy volunteers: a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;71:480-4.
- 60. Guttormsen AB, Mansoor AM, Fiskerstrand T, Ueland PM, Refsum H. Kinetics of plasma homocysteine in healthy subjects after peroral homocysteine loading. Clin Chem 1993;39:1390-7.
- 61. Guttormsen AB, Ueland PM, Lonning PE, Mella O, Refsum H. Kinetics of plasma total homocysteine in patients receiving high-dose methotrexate therapy. Clin Chem 1998;44:1987-9.
- 62. Guttormsen AB, Ueland PM, Svarstad E, Refsum H. Kinetic basis of hyperhomocysteinemia in patients with chronic renal failure. Kidney Int 1997;52:495-502.
- 63. Harmon DL, Woodside JV, Yarnell JW, McMaster D, Young IS, McCrum EE et al. The common 'thermolabile' variant of methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase is a major determinant of mild hyperhomocysteinaemia. QJM 1996;89:571-7.
- 64. Hasegawa T, Ukai W, Jo DG, Xu X, Mattson MP, Nakagawa M et al. Homocysteic acid induces intraneuronal accumulation of neurotoxic Abeta42: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci Res 2005;80:869-76.
- 65. Hebert LE, Scherr PA, Bienias JL, Bennett DA, Evans DA. Alzheimer disease in the US population: prevalence estimates using the 2000 census. Arch Neurol 2003;60:1119-22.
- 66. Henderson VW, Hogervorst E. Testosterone and Alzheimer disease: is it men's turn now? Neurology 2004;62:170-1.
- 67. Herbert V. Staging vitamin B-12 (cobalamin) status in vegetarians. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;59:1213S-22S.

- 68. Herrmann W. Homocysteine research--where do we stand and where are we going? Clin Chem Lab Med 2005;43:977-9.
- 69. Herrmann W. Hyperhomocysteinämie, B-Vitamin-Mangel und Gefäß- sowie neurodegenerative Erkrankungen. In: Thomas L, ed. Labor und Diagnose. Frankfurt/Main: TH-Books Verlagsgesellschaft mbH, 2005:586-618.
- Herrmann W, Quast S, Ullrich M, Schultze H, Bodis M, Geisel J. Hyperhomocysteinemia in high-aged subjects: relation of B-vitamins, folic acid, renal function and the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase mutation. Atherosclerosis 1999;144:91-101.
- 71. Herrmann W, Schorr H, Purschwitz K, Rassoul F, Richter V. Total homocysteine, vitamin B-12, and total antioxidant status in vegetarians. Clin Chem 2001;47:1094-101.
- 72. Hin H, Clarke R, Sherliker P, Atoyebi W, Emmens K, Birks J et al. Clinical relevance of low serum vitamin B12 concentrations in older people: the Banbury B12 study. Age Ageing 2006;35:416-22.
- 73. Ho PI, Ashline D, Dhitavat S, Ortiz D, Collins SC, Shea TB, Rogers E. Folate deprivation induces neurodegeneration: roles of oxidative stress and increased homocysteine. Neurobiol Dis 2003;14:32-42.
- 74. Ho PI, Collins SC, Dhitavat S, Ortiz D, Ashline D, Rogers E, Shea TB. Homocysteine potentiates beta-amyloid neurotoxicity: role of oxidative stress. J Neurochem 2001;78:249-53.
- 75. Ho PI, Ortiz D, Rogers E, Shea TB. Multiple aspects of homocysteine neurotoxicity: glutamate excitotoxicity, kinase hyperactivation and DNA damage. J Neurosci Res 2002;70:694-702.
- 76. Hogervorst E, Bandelow S, Combrinck M, Smith AD. Low free testosterone is an independent risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. Exp Gerontol 2004;39:1633-9.
- 77. Honig LS, Kukull W, Mayeux R. Atherosclerosis and AD: analysis of data from the US National Alzheimer's Coordinating Center. Neurology 2005;64:494-500.
- 78. Huang TL, Zandi PP, Tucker KL, Fitzpatrick AL, Kuller LH, Fried LP et al. Benefits of fatty fish on dementia risk are stronger for those without APOE epsilon4. Neurology 2005;65:1409-14.
- 79. Irizarry MC, Gurol ME, Raju S, az-Arrastia R, Locascio JJ, Tennis M et al. Association of homocysteine with plasma amyloid beta protein in aging and neurodegenerative disease. Neurology 2005;65:1402-8.
- 80. Isobe C, Murata T, Sato C, Terayama Y. Increase of total homocysteine concentration in cerebrospinal fluid in patients with Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Life Sci 2005;77:1836-43.

- 81. Jacobsen DW. Homocysteine and vitamins in cardiovascular disease. Clin Chem 1998;44:1833-43.
- 82. Jacobsen DW, Catanescu O, DiBello PM, Barbato JC. Molecular targeting by homocysteine: a mechanism for vascular pathogenesis. Clin Chem Lab Med 2005;43:1076-83.
- 83. Jacques PF, Bostom AG, Williams RR, Ellison RC, Eckfeldt JH, Rosenberg IH et al. Relation between folate status, a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, and plasma homocysteine concentrations. Circulation 1996;93:7-9.
- 84. Jacques PF, Rosenberg IH, Rogers G, Selhub J, Bowman BA, Gunter EW et al. Serum total homocysteine concentrations in adolescent and adult Americans: results from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Clin Nutr 1999;69:482-9.
- 85. Jonkers IJ, de Man FH, Onkenhout W, van der LA, Smelt AH. Implication of fibrate therapy for homocysteine. Lancet 1999;354:1208.
- 86. Kado DM, Karlamangla AS, Huang MH, Troen A, Rowe JW, Selhub J, Seeman TE. Homocysteine versus the vitamins folate, B6, and B12 as predictors of cognitive function and decline in older high-functioning adults: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. Am J Med 2005;118:161-7.
- 87. Kalaria RN. The blood-brain barrier and cerebrovascular pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1999;893:113-25.
- 88. Kalaria RN, Ballard C. Overlap between pathology of Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 1999;13 Suppl 3:S115-S123.
- 89. Kang SS, Wong PW, Norusis M. Homocysteinemia due to folate deficiency. Metabolism 1987;36:458-62.
- Karp A, Kareholt I, Qiu C, Bellander T, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. Relation of education and occupation-based socioeconomic status to incident Alzheimer's disease. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159:175-83.
- 91. Kennedy BP, Bottiglieri T, Arning E, Ziegler MG, Hansen LA, Masliah E. Elevated Sadenosylhomocysteine in Alzheimer brain: influence on methyltransferases and cognitive function. J Neural Transm 2004;111:547-67.
- 92. Key NS, McGlennen RC. Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia and Thrombophilia. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2002;126:1367-75.
- Kim MK, Ordovas JM, Selhub J, Campos H. B vitamins and plasma homocysteine concentrations in an urban and rural area of Costa Rica. J Am Coll Nutr 2003;22:224-31.
- 94. Kim YI. Folate and carcinogenesis: evidence, mechanisms, and implications. J Nutr Biochem 1999;10:66-88.

- 95. Kirsch SH, Knapp JP, Geisel J, Herrmann W, Obeid R. Simultaneous quantification of S-adenosyl methionine and S-adenosyl homocysteine in human plasma by stableisotope dilution ultra performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2009;877:3865-70.
- 96. Kopke E, Tung YC, Shaikh S, Alonso AC, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I. Microtubuleassociated protein tau. Abnormal phosphorylation of a non-paired helical filament pool in Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem 1993;268:24374-84.
- 97. Kraus JP, Janosik M, Kozich V, Mandell R, Shih V, Sperandeo MP et al. Cystathionine beta-synthase mutations in homocystinuria. Hum Mutat 1999;13:362-75.
- 98. Kruman II, Culmsee C, Chan SL, Kruman Y, Guo Z, Penix L, Mattson MP. Homocysteine elicits a DNA damage response in neurons that promotes apoptosis and hypersensitivity to excitotoxicity. J Neurosci 2000;20:6920-6.
- 99. Kruman II, Kumaravel TS, Lohani A, Pedersen WA, Cutler RG, Kruman Y et al. Folic acid deficiency and homocysteine impair DNA repair in hippocampal neurons and sensitize them to amyloid toxicity in experimental models of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 2002;22:1752-62.
- 100. Kuszczyk M, Gordon-Krajcer W, Lazarewicz JW. Homocysteine-induced acute excitotoxicity in cerebellar granule cells in vitro is accompanied by PP2A-mediated dephosphorylation of tau. Neurochem Int 2009;55:174-80.
- 101. Larson EB, Wang L, Bowen JD, McCormick WC, Teri L, Crane P, Kukull W. Exercise is associated with reduced risk for incident dementia among persons 65 years of age and older. Ann Intern Med 2006;144:73-81.
- 102. Lewerin C, Matousek M, Steen G, Johansson B, Steen B, Nilsson-Ehle H. Significant correlations of plasma homocysteine and serum methylmalonic acid with movement and cognitive performance in elderly subjects but no improvement from short-term vitamin therapy: a placebo-controlled randomized study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;81:1155-62.
- 103. Lewerin C, Nilsson-Ehle H, Matousek M, Lindstedt G, Steen B. Reduction of plasma homocysteine and serum methylmalonate concentrations in apparently healthy elderly subjects after treatment with folic acid, vitamin B12 and vitamin B6: a randomised trial. Eur J Clin Nutr 2003;57:1426-36.
- Lien EA, Nedrebo BG, Varhaug JE, Nygard O, Aakvaag A, Ueland PM. Plasma total homocysteine levels during short-term iatrogenic hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000;85:1049-53.
- 105. Lindenbaum J, Savage DG, Stabler SP, Allen RH. Diagnosis of cobalamin deficiency: II. Relative sensitivities of serum cobalamin, methylmalonic acid, and total homocysteine concentrations. Am J Hematol 1990;34:99-107.

- 106. Lipton SA, Kim WK, Choi YB, Kumar S, D'Emilia DM, Rayudu PV et al. Neurotoxicity associated with dual actions of homocysteine at the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94:5923-8.
- 107. Lonati S, Novembrino C, Ippolito S, Accinni R, Galli C, Troonen H et al. Analytical performance and method comparison study of the total homocysteine fluorescence polarization immunoassay (FPIA) on the AxSYM analyzer. Clin Chem Lab Med 2004;42:228-34.
- Luchsinger JA, Reitz C, Honig LS, Tang MX, Shea S, Mayeux R. Aggregation of vascular risk factors and risk of incident Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2005;65:545-51.
- 109. Luchsinger JA, Tang MX, Siddiqui M, Shea S, Mayeux R. Alcohol intake and risk of dementia. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004;52:540-6.
- 110. Luo Y, Zhou X, Yang X, Wang J. Homocysteine induces tau hyperphosphorylation in rats. Neuroreport 2007;18:2005-8.
- 111. Masters CL, Multhaup G, Simms G, Pottgiesser J, Martins RN, Beyreuther K. Neuronal origin of a cerebral amyloid: neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease contain the same protein as the amyloid of plaque cores and blood vessels. EMBO J 1985;4:2757-63.
- 112. McCaddon A, Hudson P, Davies G, Hughes A, Williams JH, Wilkinson C. Homocysteine and cognitive decline in healthy elderly. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2001;12:309-13.
- 113. McCampbell A, Wessner K, Marlatt MW, Wolffe C, Toolan D, Podtelezhnikov A et al. Induction of Alzheimer's-like changes in brain of mice expressing mutant APP fed excess methionine. J Neurochem 2010.
- 114. McCracken C, Hudson P, Ellis R, McCaddon A. Methylmalonic acid and cognitive function in the Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:1406-11.
- 115. Mignini LE, Latthe PM, Villar J, Kilby MD, Carroli G, Khan KS. Mapping the theories of preeclampsia: the role of homocysteine. Obstet Gynecol 2005;105:411-25.
- 116. Mijatovic V, Kenemans P, Jakobs C, van Baal WM, Peters-Muller ER, van der Mooren MJ. A randomized controlled study of the effects of 17beta-estradioldydrogesterone on plasma homocysteine in postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol 1998;91:432-6.
- 117. Miller JW, Green R, Ramos MI, Allen LH, Mungas DM, Jagust WJ, Haan MN. Homocysteine and cognitive function in the Sacramento Area Latino Study on Aging. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78:441-7.
- 118. Miner SE, Evrovski J, Cole DE. Clinical chemistry and molecular biology of homocysteine metabolism: an update. Clin Biochem 1997;30:189-201.

- 119. Molloy AM, Daly S, Mills JL, Kirke PN, Whitehead AS, Ramsbottom D et al. Thermolabile variant of 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase associated with low red-cell folates: implications for folate intake recommendations. Lancet 1997;349:1591-3.
- 120. Mooijaart SP, Gussekloo J, Frolich M, Jolles J, Stott DJ, Westendorp RG, de Craen AJ. Homocysteine, vitamin B-12, and folic acid and the risk of cognitive decline in old age: the Leiden 85-Plus study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:866-71.
- 121. Morris MC, Evans DA, Tangney CC, Bienias JL, Schneider JA, Wilson RS, Scherr PA. Dietary copper and high saturated and trans fat intakes associated with cognitive decline. Arch Neurol 2006;63:1085-8.
- 122. Morris MC, Evans DA, Tangney CC, Bienias JL, Wilson RS. Fish consumption and cognitive decline with age in a large community study. Arch Neurol 2005;62:1849-53.
- 123. Morris MS, Jacques PF, Rosenberg IH, Selhub J. Folate and vitamin B-12 status in relation to anemia, macrocytosis, and cognitive impairment in older Americans in the age of folic acid fortification. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:193-200.
- 124. Morrison LD, Smith DD, Kish SJ. Brain S-adenosylmethionine levels are severely decreased in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 1996;67:1328-31.
- 125. Mudd SH, Finkelstein JD, Irreverre F, Laster L. Homocystinuria: an enzymatic defect. Science 1964;143:1443-5.
- 126. Mudd SH, Skovby F, Levy HL, Pettigrew KD, Wilcken B, Pyeritz RE et al. The natural history of homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 1985;37:1-31.
- 127. Mudd SH, Uhlendorf BW, Freeman JM, Finkelstein JD, Shih VE. Homocystinuria associated with decreased methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase activity 1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1972;46:905-12.
- Mukamal KJ, Kuller LH, Fitzpatrick AL, Longstreth WT, Jr., Mittleman MA, Siscovick DS. Prospective study of alcohol consumption and risk of dementia in older adults. JAMA 2003;289:1405-13.
- 129. Nicolia V, Fuso A, Cavallaro RA, Di LA, Scarpa S. B vitamin deficiency promotes tau phosphorylation through regulation of GSK3beta and PP2A. J Alzheimers Dis 2010;19:895-907.
- 130. Norlund L, Grubb A, Fex G, Leksell H, Nilsson JE, Schenck H, Hultberg B. The increase of plasma homocysteine concentrations with age is partly due to the deterioration of renal function as determined by plasma cystatin C. Clin Chem Lab Med 1998;36:175-8.
- 131. Nurk E, Refsum H, Drevon CA, Tell GS, Nygaard HA, Engedal K, Smith AD. Intake of flavonoid-rich wine, tea, and chocolate by elderly men and women is associated with better cognitive test performance. J Nutr 2009;139:120-7.

- 132. Nurk E, Refsum H, Tell GS, Engedal K, Vollset SE, Ueland PM et al. Plasma total homocysteine and memory in the elderly: The Hordaland Homocysteine study. Ann Neurol 2005;58:847-57.
- 133. Obeid R, Herrmann W. Mechanisms of homocysteine neurotoxicity in neurodegenerative diseases with special reference to dementia. FEBS Lett 2006;580:2994-3005.
- 134. Obeid R, Kasoha M, Knapp JP, Kostopoulos P, Becker G, Fassbender K, Herrmann W. Folate and methylation status in relation to phosphorylated tau protein(181P) and beta-amyloid(1-42) in cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Chem 2007;53:1129-36.
- 135. Obeid R, Kostopoulos P, Knapp JP, Kasoha M, Becker G, Fassbender K, Herrmann W. Biomarkers of folate and vitamin B12 are related in blood and cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Chem 2007;53:326-33.
- 136. Ogris E, Du X, Nelson KC, Mak EK, Yu XX, Lane WS, Pallas DC. A protein phosphatase methylesterase (PME-1) is one of several novel proteins stably associating with two inactive mutants of protein phosphatase 2A. J Biol Chem 1999;274:14382-91.
- 137. Oulhaj A, Refsum H, Beaumont H, Williams J, King E, Jacoby R, Smith AD. Homocysteine as a predictor of cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2010;25:82-90.
- 138. Oulhaj A, Refsum H, Beaumont H, Williams J, King E, Jacoby R, Smith AD. Homocysteine as a predictor of cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2010;25:82-90.
- Paoli P, Sbrana F, Tiribilli B, Caselli A, Pantera B, Cirri P et al. Protein Nhomocysteinylation induces the formation of toxic amyloid-like protofibrils. J Mol Biol 2010;400:889-907.
- Perrot R, Berges R, Bocquet A, Eyer J. Review of the multiple aspects of neurofilament functions, and their possible contribution to neurodegeneration. Mol Neurobiol 2008;38:27-65.
- Piyathilake CJ, Macaluso M, Hine RJ, Richards EW, Krumdieck CL. Local and systemic effects of cigarette smoking on folate and vitamin B- 12. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60:559-66.
- 142. Qiu C, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. The age-dependent relation of blood pressure to cognitive function and dementia. Lancet Neurol 2005;4:487-99.
- 143. Quadri P, Fragiacomo C, Pezzati R, Zanda E, Tettamanti M, Lucca U. Homocysteine and B vitamins in mild cognitive impairment and dementia. Clin Chem Lab Med 2005;43:1096-100.
- 144. Rao AM, Baskaya MK, Maley ME, Kindy MS, Dempsey RJ. Beneficial effects of Sadenosyl-L-methionine on blood-brain barrier breakdown and neuronal survival after transient cerebral ischemia in gerbils. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1997;44:134-8.

- 145. Ravaglia G, Forti P, Maioli F, Martelli M, Servadei L, Brunetti N et al. Conversion of mild cognitive impairment to dementia: predictive role of mild cognitive impairment subtypes and vascular risk factors. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2006;21:51-8.
- 146. Ravaglia G, Forti P, Maioli F, Martelli M, Servadei L, Brunetti N et al. Homocysteine and folate as risk factors for dementia and Alzheimer disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:636-43.
- 147. Ravaglia G, Forti P, Maioli F, Muscari A, Sacchetti L, Arnone G et al. Homocysteine and cognitive function in healthy elderly community dwellers in Italy. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;77:668-73.
- 148. Refsum H, Helland S, Ueland PM. Radioenzymic determination of homocysteine in plasma and urine. Clin Chem 1985;31:624-8.
- 149. Refsum H, Smith AD, Ueland PM, Nexo E, Clarke R, McPartlin J et al. Facts and recommendations about total homocysteine determinations: an expert opinion. Clin Chem 2004;50:3-32.
- 150. Refsum H, Ueland PM, Nygard O, Vollset SE. Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease. Annu Rev Med 1998;49:31-62.
- 151. Regland B, Andersson M, Abrahamsson L, Bagby J, Dyrehag LE, Gottfries CG. Increased concentrations of homocysteine in the cerebrospinal fluid in patients with fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. Scand J Rheumatol 1997;26:301-7.
- 152. Robinson K, Arheart K, Refsum H, Brattstrom L, Boers G, Ueland P et al. Low circulating folate and vitamin B6 concentrations: risk factors for stroke, peripheral vascular disease, and coronary artery disease. European COMAC Group [see comments]. Circulation 1998;97:437-43.
- 153. Robinson K, Gupta A, Dennis V, Arheart K, Chaudhary D, Green R et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia confers an independent increased risk of atherosclerosis in end-stage renal disease and is closely linked to plasma folate and pyridoxine concentrations. Circulation 1996;94:2743-8.
- 154. Rovio S, Kareholt I, Helkala EL, Viitanen M, Winblad B, Tuomilehto J et al. Leisuretime physical activity at midlife and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 2005;4:705-11.
- 155. Rowe JW, Kahn RL. Human aging: usual and successful. Science 1987;237:143-9.
- 156. Sai X, Kawamura Y, Kokame K, Yamaguchi H, Shiraishi H, Suzuki R et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress-inducible protein, Herp, enhances presenilin-mediated generation of amyloid beta-protein. J Biol Chem 2002;277:12915-20.
- 157. Savage DG, Lindenbaum J, Stabler SP, Allen RH. Sensitivity of serum methylmalonic acid and total homocysteine determinations for diagnosing cobalamin and folate deficiencies [see comments]. Am J Med 1994;96:239-46.

- 158. Scarpa S, Fuso A, D'Anselmi F, Cavallaro RA. Presenilin 1 gene silencing by Sadenosylmethionine: a treatment for Alzheimer disease? FEBS Lett 2003;541:145-8.
- 159. Schenk BE, Festen HP, Kuipers EJ, Klinkenberg-Knol EC, Meuwissen SG. Effect of short- and long-term treatment with omeprazole on the absorption and serum levels of cobalamin. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1996;10:541-5.
- 160. Schneede J, Refsum H, Ueland PM. Biological and environmental determinants of plasma homocysteine3. Semin Thromb Hemost 2000;26:263-79.
- 161. Scholze A, Rinder C, Beige J, Riezler R, Zidek W, Tepel M. Acetylcysteine reduces plasma homocysteine concentration and improves pulse pressure and endothelial function in patients with end-stage renal failure. Circulation 2004;109:369-74.
- 162. Scott JM, Molloy AM, Kennedy DG, Kennedy S, Weir DG. Effects of the disruption of transmethylation in the central nervous system: an animal model. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl 1994;154:27-31.
- Selhub J, Jacques PF, Wilson PW, Rush D, Rosenberg IH. Vitamin status and intake as primary determinants of homocysteinemia in an elderly population. JAMA 1993;270:2693-8.
- 164. Selkoe DJ. Presenilin, Notch, and the genesis and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:11039-41.
- 165. Seshadri S, Beiser A, Selhub J, Jacques PF, Rosenberg IH, D'Agostino RB et al. Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 2002;346:476-83.
- 166. Shobab LA, Hsiung GY, Feldman HH. Cholesterol in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 2005;4:841-52.
- Siri PW, Verhoef P, Kok FJ. Vitamins B6, B12, and folate: association with plasma total homocysteine and risk of coronary atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Nutr 1998;17:435-41.
- 168. Sontag E. Protein phosphatase 2A: the Trojan Horse of cellular signaling. Cell Signal 2001;13:7-16.
- 169. Sontag E, Hladik C, Montgomery L, Luangpirom A, Mudrak I, Ogris E, White CL, III. Downregulation of protein phosphatase 2A carboxyl methylation and methyltransferase may contribute to Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 2004;63:1080-91.
- 170. Sontag E, Nunbhakdi-Craig V, Lee G, Bloom GS, Mumby MC. Regulation of the phosphorylation state and microtubule-binding activity of Tau by protein phosphatase 2A. Neuron 1996;17:1201-7.

- 171. Sontag E, Nunbhakdi-Craig V, Sontag JM, az-Arrastia R, Ogris E, Dayal S et al. Protein phosphatase 2A methyltransferase links homocysteine metabolism with tau and amyloid precursor protein regulation. J Neurosci 2007;27:2751-9.
- 172. Sontag JM, Nunbhakdi-Craig V, Montgomery L, Arning E, Bottiglieri T, Sontag E. Folate deficiency induces in vitro and mouse brain region-specific downregulation of leucine carboxyl methyltransferase-1 and protein phosphatase 2A B(alpha) subunit expression that correlate with enhanced tau phosphorylation. J Neurosci 2008;28:11477-87.
- 173. Spaeth GL, Barber GW. Homocystinuria. In a mentally retarded child and her normal cousin. Trans Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol 1965;69:912-30.
- 174. Stabler SP, Marcell PD, Podell ER, Allen RH, Savage DG, Lindenbaum J. Elevation of total homocysteine in the serum of patients with cobalamin or folate deficiency detected by capillary gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. J Clin Invest 1988;81:466-74.
- 175. Stanger O. Physiology of folic acid in health and disease. Curr Drug Metab 2002;3:211-23.
- 176. Stanger O, Herrmann W, Pietrzik K, Fowler B, Geisel J, Dierkes J, Weger M. DACH-LIGA Homocystein (German, Austrian and Swiss Homocysteine Society): Concensus Paper on the Rational Clinical Use of Homocysteine, Folic Acid and B Vitamins in Cardiovascular and Thrombotic Diseases: Guidlines and Recommendations. Clin Chem Lab Med 2003;41:1392-403.
- 177. Sternberger NH, Sternberger LA, Ulrich J. Aberrant neurofilament phosphorylation in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1985;82:4274-6.
- 178. Stott DJ, MacIntosh G, Lowe GD, Rumley A, McMahon AD, Langhorne P et al. Randomized controlled trial of homocysteine-lowering vitamin treatment in elderly patients with vascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:1320-6.
- 179. Surtees R, Bowron A, Leonard J. Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma total homocysteine and related metabolites in children with cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency: the effect of treatment. Pediatr Res 1997;42:577-82.
- 180. Szekely CA, Thorne JE, Zandi PP, Ek M, Messias E, Breitner JC, Goodman SN. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. Neuroepidemiology 2004;23:159-69.
- 181. Teunissen CE, Blom AH, van Boxtel MP, Bosma H, De BC, Jolles J et al. Homocysteine: a marker for cognitive performance? A longitudinal follow-up study. J Nutr Health Aging 2003;7:153-9.
- 182. Trimble KC, Molloy AM, Scott JM, Weir DG. The effect of ethanol on one-carbon metabolism: increased methionine catabolism and lipotrope methyl-group wastage. Hepatology 1993;18:984-9.

- 183. Troen AM, Mitchell B, Sorensen B, Wener MH, Johnston A, Wood B et al. Unmetabolized folic acid in plasma is associated with reduced natural killer cell cytotoxicity among postmenopausal women. J Nutr 2006;136:189-94.
- 184. Trovarelli G, De Medio GE, Porcellati S, Stramentinoli G, Porcellati G. The effect of S-Adenosyl-L-methionine on ischemia-induced disturbances of brain phospholipid in the gerbil. Neurochem Res 1983;8:1597-609.
- 185. Tucker KL, Qiao N, Scott T, Rosenberg I, Spiro A, III. High homocysteine and low B vitamins predict cognitive decline in aging men: the Veterans Affairs Normative Aging Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:627-35.
- 186. Ubbink JB, Delport R, Bissbort S, Vermaak WJ, Becker PJ. Relationship between vitamin B-6 status and elevated pyridoxal kinase levels induced by theophylline therapy in humans. J Nutr 1990;120:1352-9.
- 187. Ueland PM, Mansoor MA, Guttormsen AB, Muller F, Aukrust P, Refsum H, Svardal AM. Reduced, oxidized and protein-bound forms of homocysteine and other aminothiols in plasma comprise the redox thiol status--a possible element of the extracellular antioxidant defense system 7. J Nutr 1996;126:1281S-4S.
- 188. Vafai SB, Stock JB. Protein phosphatase 2A methylation: a link between elevated plasma homocysteine and Alzheimer's Disease. FEBS Lett 2002;518:1-4.
- 189. van den Kommer TN, Dik MG, Comijs HC, Jonker C, Deeg DJ. Homocysteine and inflammation: predictors of cognitive decline in older persons? Neurobiol Aging 2010;31:1700-9.
- 190. van Guldener C, Stam F, Stehouwer CDA. Hyperhomocysteinemia in chronic kidney disease: focus on transmethylation. Clin Chem Lab Med 2005;43:1026-31.
- 191. van Guldener C, Robinson K. Homocysteine and renal disease 1. Semin Thromb Hemost 2000;26:313-24.
- 192. van Guldener C, Stam F, Stehouwer CD. Homocysteine metabolism in renal failure. Kidney Int 2001;59 Suppl 78:S234-S237.
- 193. Van DF, Van Gool WA. Hyperhomocysteinemia and Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2009;48:425-30.
- 194. Vermeer SE, van Dijk EJ, Koudstaal PJ, Oudkerk M, Hofman A, Clarke R, Breteler MM. Homocysteine, silent brain infarcts, and white matter lesions: The Rotterdam Scan Study. Ann Neurol 2002;51:285-9.
- 195. Vermeulen EG, Stehouwer CD, Valk J, van der KM, van den BM, Twisk JW et al. Effect of homocysteine-lowering treatment with folic acid plus vitamin B on cerebrovascular atherosclerosis and white matter abnormalities as determined by MRA and MRI: a placebo-controlled, randomized trial. Eur J Clin Invest 2004;34:256-61.

- 196. Vogelsberg-Ragaglia V, Schuck T, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. PP2A mRNA expression is quantitatively decreased in Alzheimer's disease hippocampus. Exp Neurol 2001;168:402-12.
- 197. Voutilainen S, Rissanen TH, Virtanen J, Lakka TA, Salonen JT. Low dietary folate intake is associated with an excess incidence of acute coronary events: The Kuopio Ischemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. Circulation 2001;103:2674-80.
- 198. Wald DS, Law M, Morris JK. Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease: evidence on causality from a meta-analysis. BMJ 2002;325:1202.
- 199. Wang HX, Wahlin A, Basun H, Fastbom J, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L. Vitamin B(12) and folate in relation to the development of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 2001;56:1188-94.
- 200. Wang J, Tung YC, Wang Y, Li XT, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I. Hyperphosphorylation and accumulation of neurofilament proteins in Alzheimer disease brain and in okadaic acid-treated SY5Y cells. FEBS Lett 2001;507:81-7.
- 201. Wang JZ, Gong CX, Zaidi T, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K. Dephosphorylation of Alzheimer paired helical filaments by protein phosphatase-2A and -2B. J Biol Chem 1995;270:4854-60.
- 202. Weingarten MD, Lockwood AH, Hwo SY, Kirschner MW. A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1975;72:1858-62.
- 203. Whitmer RA, Gunderson EP, Barrett-Connor E, Quesenberry CP, Jr., Yaffe K. Obesity in middle age and future risk of dementia: a 27 year longitudinal population based study. BMJ 2005;330:1360.
- 204. Wimo A, Winblad B, guero-Torres H, von SE. The magnitude of dementia occurrence in the world. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2003;17:63-7.
- 205. Wright CB, Lee HS, Paik MC, Stabler SP, Allen RH, Sacco RL. Total homocysteine and cognition in a tri-ethnic cohort: the Northern Manhattan Study. Neurology 2004;63:254-60.
- 206. Wright CB, Paik MC, Brown TR, Stabler SP, Allen RH, Sacco RL, DeCarli C. Total homocysteine is associated with white matter hyperintensity volume: the Northern Manhattan Study. Stroke 2005;36:1207-11.
- 207. Wright CB, Sacco RL, Rundek TR, Delman JB, Rabbani LE, Elkind MS. Interleukin-6 is associated with cognitive function: the Northern Manhattan Study. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2006;15:34-8.
- 208. Yoshitake T, Kiyohara Y, Kato I, Ohmura T, Iwamoto H, Nakayama K et al. Incidence and risk factors of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease in a defined elderly Japanese population: the Hisayama Study. Neurology 1995;45:1161-8.

- 209. Zhang CE, Tian Q, Wei W, Peng JH, Liu GP, Zhou XW et al. Homocysteine induces tau phosphorylation by inactivating protein phosphatase 2A in rat hippocampus. Neurobiol Aging 2008;29:1654-65.
- 210. Zhao WQ, Feng C, Alkon DL. Impairment of phosphatase 2A contributes to the prolonged MAP kinase phosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease fibroblasts. Neurobiol Dis 2003;14:458-69.
- 211. Zoccolella S, Lamberti P, Armenise E, de MM, Lamberti SV, Mastronardi R et al. Plasma homocysteine levels in Parkinson's disease: role of antiparkinsonian medications. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2005;11:131-3.
- 212. Zylberstein DE, Lissner L, Bjorkelund C, Mehlig K, Thelle DS, Gustafson D et al. Midlife homocysteine and late-life dementia in women. A prospective population study. Neurobiol Aging 2009.

IX Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Dr. Rima Obeid, who was a great source of encouragement, guidance, and support from the initial to the final step. With her enthusiasm and her effort to explain things clearly, she enabled me to develop an understanding of the subject matter. Without her I would not have succeeded in conducting or completing this project.

I would also like to explicitly thank Prof. Dr. Herrmann for his continuous support and intense involvement in this research project. Through the sharing of his great expertise on the subject matter he allowed me to see more clearly in the final steps enabling me to finalize this dissertation.

I specifically would like to express my appreciation to Dr. Markus Herrmann who established and organized the hyperhomocysteinemic rat model and made available the tissue and plasma sample material providing me with the basis for my entire research project. Without him this research project would not have been possible.

My gratefulness extends also to Alexandra Wagner who was responsible for guaranteeing the correct feeding of the animals over the course of the nutritional intervention.

Many thanks to all the staff members of our research laboratory who were always helpful in answering questions, making the project run more smoothly, and assisting in many different ways. In particular, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Natasha Umanskaya who provided me with her guidance in many of the experiments.

I would especially like to thank Nadine Commercon, staff member of the research laboratory of the department of Neurology of the University of the Saarland, Dr. med. Silke Walter and group leader Prof. Dr. med. K. Faßbender for their collaboration and guidance regarding the immunofluorescence study.

Lastly, I offer my thanks to my loving parents, Ronald Schlundt and Amy Peaceman, and my best friend Uli Limbach for their support during the entire duration of the project. To them I dedicate this thesis.